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Dear Fellow Shareholder,

With Tony Naughtin’s decision to step down as CEO, I enthusiastically agreed to assume this role
until we secure Internap’s next long term leader. Regardless of the length of time this process takes, I
want to assure shareholders that I will continue to execute the responsibilities of this office with vigor
and confidence in our company’s future.

The year 2000 was one of exceptional growth for Internap, marked by significant revenue gains,
strong customer additions, aggressive build-out of our Overlay Network and important investments in
technology.

Internap closed the books on 2000 with $69.6 million in revenues, a 456% increase over the
previous year, and an EBITDA loss of $93.5 million, or $.66 per share, compared to $39.9 million, or
$1.05 per share, during the preceding 12 months. Net loss for the year was $185.5 million, or $1.30 per
share, compared to the previous year’s net loss of $49.9 million, or $1.31 per share.

Internap’s value proposition was validated during the year not only by customer additions, but also
by their use of our managed services as a commercial networking alternative to costly private networks.
Key customers added during 2000 include 3Com, Associated Press, CBS, Costco, Cox Radio, Fleet
Securities, Geico, Google, Homestore.com, InfoSpace, J.P. Morgan Chase & Co., Terra Lycos, Mass
Mutual, Matsushita, McAfee.com, Nextel Communications, Palm Computing, SAP America, Sun
Microsystems, Ticketmaster and Walmart.com.

Although it is appropriate to note the progress and achievements of last year, we must also
acknowledge that 2001 ushered in a vastly different and challenging business environment. Because of
this, I want to address the steps we are taking to manage and finance our business during this difficult
period.

The challenges of 2001 have been hallmarked by a significant increase in customer churn due
largely to business failures of many emerging Internet-related companies. This churn has eroded
recurring revenues, as our modest growth this year demonstrates. Internap’s revenue growth for the
second quarter of 2001 was 3% compared to the first quarter. Despite customer churn, Internap’s
revenue for the first half of 2001 still grew 156% over the same period in 2000.

Because of reduced revenue growth, management implemented aggressive cost controls that
reduced our headcount by 31% from the beginning of 2001. Likewise, we curtailed the build-out of
additional Service Points, reducing our capital expenditures. Even so, Internap’s footprint is comprised
of 26 full Private Network Access Points, or P-NAP facilities, and 11 aggregation hubs and extensions,
for a total of 37 Service Points in the U.S., Japan and Europe.

These points of presence make up a service footprint that gives Internap considerable capacity to
serve existing and future customers, while providing a platform for future growth when market and
economic conditions allow.

I am pleased to report that our employees have responded well to the challenges we have faced,
affirming what the management team has known all along: Internap has the highest quality engineering,
sales, support and operational talent in the industry.

It is important to note that despite these difficult times, we have maintained an aggressive upgrade
schedule for our Service Points with the next generation of our ASsimilator technology. Not only does
this intelligent system allow for faster data transmission across the many public backbones but also for
more cost effective management of those networks. This technology can help us improve our margins
moving forward.



One consequence of slower growth is the need for additional resources to finance the business.
Internap announced on July 25" that a strong investor group, led by early investors Granite Ventures,
LLC, Morgan Stanley Venture Partners and Oak Investment Partners, had entered a definitive
agreement to provide Internap with $101 million of new equity financing. The financing is subject to
shareholder approval at our Annual Meeting in Seattle. With virtually no long-term debt, this financing
gives Internap a strong balance sheet and enables us to progress to profitability.

To help achieve profitability, we are implementing a channel-marketing program with partners that
have the ability to reach markets we cannot access as effectively with our direct sales force. We will
also leverage existing and new industry relationships such as the ones recently announced with Polycom
and Cisco Systems to jointly offer Internet-based videoconferencing services. Internap Japan, our
majority-owned joint venture with NTT-ME and its parent Nippon Telephone and Telegraph, the largest
telecommunications provider in the world’s second largest Internet market, is already installing
revenue-producing customers.

Internap’s strategic vision is to become the premier provider of guaranteed public Internet
connectivity to the growing number of companies that want to leverage the economies of the public
infrastructure while meeting the most demanding standards for data delivery and security. Our nearly
800 customers use Internap’s managed services as a platform for virtual private networks, Internet voice
telephony and videoconferencing, among many other enterprise applications. They do so because
Internap alone ensures the stability and reliability of the public Internet with a Service Level
Agreement that is unsurpassed in the Internet industry.

I am confident that Internap’s strategic vision, its strong business model and the adaptive changes
implemented over the past several months will carry Internap forward to profitability and provide
long-term value for our shareholders.

Along with the employees of Internap, I want to thank you for your continued confidence and
support of Internap. I hope to meet as many of you as possible at our upcoming Annual Shareholders
Meeting.

Sincerely,

ey

Eugene Eidenberg
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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PART 1

The statements contained in this annual report on Form 10-K that are not historical are forward-
looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including statements regarding Internap’s
expectations, beliefs, intentions or strategies regarding the future. Forward-looking statements include, without
limitation, statements regarding the extent and timing of future revenues, expenses and customer demand,
statements regarding the deployment of Internap’s products and services and statements regarding reliance
on third parties. All forward-looking statements included in this document are based on information
available to us as of the date hereof, and Internap assumes no obligation to update any such forward-
looking statements. It is important to note that our actual results could differ materially from those in such
forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including, without limitation, those discussed in
Item 7A4 on page 20, under the heading “Risk Factors” on page 22 and elsewhere in this annual report on
Form 10-K.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
Overview

Internap is a leading provider of high performance Internet connectivity services targeted at
businesses seeking to maximize the performance of mission-critical Internet-based applications.
Customers connected to one of our service points have their data optimally routed to and from
destinations on the Internet using our overlay network, which analyzes the traffic situation on the
multiplicity of networks that comprise the Internet and delivers mission-critical information and
communications faster and more reliably. Use of our overlay network results in lower instances of data
loss and greater quality of service than services offered by conventional Internet connectivity providers.
As of December 31, 2000, we provided our high performance Internet connectivity services to 647
customers.

We offer our high performance Internet connectivity services at dedicated line speeds of 1.5
Megabits per second, or Mbps, to 622 Mbps to customers desiring a superior level of Internet
performance. We provide our high performance connectivity services through the deployment of service
points, which are highly redundant network infrastructure facilities coupled with our patented routing
technology. Service points maintain high speed, dedicated connections to major global Internet
networks, commonly referred to as backbones, such as AT&T, Cable & Wireless USA, Genuity, Global
Crossing Telecommunications, Intermedia, PSINet, Qwest Communications International, Sprint
Internet Services, UUNET Technologies and Verio (an NTT Communications Corporation). As of
December 31, 2000, we operate 29 service points which are located in the Amsterdam, Atlanta (two
service points), Boston (two service points), Chicago, Dallas (two service points), Denver, Fremont, CA,
Houston (two service points), Los Angeles (two service points), Miami, New York (two service points),
Orange County, Philadelphia (two service points), San Diego (two service points), San Francisco, San
Jose (two service points), Seattle (three service points) and Washington, D.C. metropolitan areas. We
expect to have over 35 service points operational by the end of 2001.

We believe our service points provide a superior quality of service over the public Internet
enabling our customers to realize the full potential of their existing Internet-based applications, such as
e-commerce and on line trading. In addition, we believe our service points will enable our customers to
take advantage of new services, such as using the Internet to conduct video conferencing, make
telephone calls or send facsimiles, create private networks, distribute multimedia documents and send
and receive audio and video feeds.



Services

We offer Internet connectivity services to our customers over T-1, DS-3, OC-3 and OC-12
telecommunication connections at speeds ranging from 1.5 Mbps to 622 Mbps. T-1, DS-3, OC-3 and
OC-12 are several of the many possible media used to transport Internet Protocol packets across the
Internet. DS-3 carries voice calls or data at a rate of 45 million bits per second, OC-3 carries voice calls
or data at a rate of 155 million bits per second and OC-12 carries voice calls or data at a rate of 622
Mbps. Our list prices for a single T-1, DS-3 and OC-3 connection range from $2,695 to $193,320 per
month depending on the connection purchased. Customers who connect to a service point with a DS-3
or faster connection have a choice of fixed rate pricing or usage based pricing. Otherwise, customers
pay a fixed fee for our Internet connectivity services. Usage based pricing varies according to the
volume of data sent and received over the connection.

Customers that have networking equipment or servers located within service points may connect
directly to our services using standard ethernet connections with speeds ranging from 10 Mbps to 1
gigabit per second, or 1 Gbps. We also offer our customers additional value added services, including:

e Internap Diversity Plus. Our Diversity Plus service allows customers to maintain multiple
connections to Internap and other backbone providers while still taking advantage of the optimal
routing capabilities of the service point. In a typical Diversity Plus configuration, the customer
has a connection to a service point and to one or more backbone providers of their choice. The
customer’s router is configured using our proprietary routing technology to route packets
addressed to Internet destinations located on the alternate provider’s backbone through the
customer’s direct connection while other packets are routed to the service point. In this manner,
the customer can use redundant Internet connections, while also taking advantage of the unique
features of the service point.

* Connections to Data Centers. Many of our customers have their servers located at third party
data centers. We connect to these customers either by establishing a circuit directly to their
routers or through a connection we have with the network maintained by the third party data
center operator. We have our own data centers in our Atlanta, Boston, Dallas, Houston, New
York and Seattle service points at which a number of our customers have collocated their
Servers.

e [nstallation Services. We perform installation services necessary to connect our customers’
networks to our service points.

* Content Delivery. We sell a variety of Akamai content distribution services including FreeFlow,
FreeFlow Streaming, FirstPoint, EdgeScape, Netpodium and Forum Services.

* Future Service Offerings. In the second half of 2001, we are planning to offer our customers
virtual private networking and video conferencing services.

Technology

Service Point Architecture. The service point architecture was engineered as a reliable and scalable
network access point. Multiple routers and multiple backbone connections provide back-ups in case of
the failure of any single service point circuit or device.

The service point architecture is designed to grow as our customers’ traffic demands grow and as
we add new customers. Our service point model provides for the addition of significant backbone
providers as necessary.

We only deploy service points within central office grade facilities. All service points are equipped
with battery backup and emergency generators, as well as dual heating, ventilation and air conditioning
systems.



ASsimilator Routing Technology. ASsimilator technology is a software based system for Internet
Protocol route management that interfaces with the service point infrastructure to provide the high
performance routing service characteristics of the service point. The system is a seamless integration of
databases, software programs, router configuration processes and route verification methods.

ASsimilator periodically assesses the global routing tables being advertised by all of the backbone
networks touching the service point. It then automatically determines exactly which Internet Protocol
routes are attached to which networks and constructs how the world of Internet Protocol addresses are
connected to the Internet. ASsimilator then routes data to its intended destination backbone in normal
instances as well as in failure scenarios. A verification system also allows ASsimilator to monitor the
routing of data, and if routing is found to be suboptimal, adjustments can be made to optimize routing.
ASsimilator controls both outbound routing to a backbone network from the service point as well as
inbound routing from a backbone network. Enhancements to the ASsimilator technology are currently
in testing.

Distributed Network Management System. We have developed a highly scalable proprietary network
management system optimized for monitoring service points. With the use of our distributed network
management system, our network operations center is capable of real-time monitoring of the backbones
connected to each service point, customer circuits, network devices and servers 24 hours a day, seven
days a week. This system provides our network operations center with proactive trouble notification,
allowing for instantaneous identification and handling of problems, frequently before our customers
become aware of network problems. This system also captures and provides bandwidth usage reports
for billing and customer reports. Data provided by the system is an integral part of our capacity
planning and provisioning process, helping us to forecast and plan upgrades before capacity becomes
strained.

Product Development Costs. Our product development costs were approximately $0.8 million,
$3.9 million and $12.1 million for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively.
Included in product development costs for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 were
research and development expenses of $0.7 million, $3.1 million and $7.7 million, respectively. We
expect our product development costs to increase as we hire additional engineers and technical
personnel to develop new products and services and upgrade existing ones.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales and marketing objective is to achieve broad market penetration and increase brand
name recognition by targeting enterprises that depend upon the Internet for mission-critical operations.
As of December 31, 2000, we had 139 employees engaged in direct sales and 78 in sales administration
and marketing located in our targeted markets.

Sales. We have developed a direct, high-end sales organization with managers who have extensive
relevant sales experience and representatives who have many years of relevant sales experience with a
broad range of telecommunications and technology companies. In addition, our highly trained technical
sales engineers and client interaction engineers, who facilitate optimal routing solutions for our
customers, are responsible for generating recurring sales revenues and serve to complement our sales
force. When we deploy a new service point, we set up a dedicated team of sales representatives and
engineers focused exclusively on that market. We believe this localized direct sales approach allows us
to respond to regional competitive characteristics, educate customers, and identify and close business
opportunities better than a centralized sales force. We are also developing an indirect sales channel for
our products and services through relationships with our preferred collocation providers, content
developers, cable companies, DSL service providers, consulting companies and Internet service
providers.



Marketing. Our marketing efforts are designed to help educate customers in our targeted vertical
markets to understand that a service provider is now available that can provide a quality of service over
the entire Internet that enables them to launch and execute mission-critical Internet-based applications.
Our marketing activities have included collateral advertising, tradeshows, direct response programs, new
service point launch events and management of our web site. These programs are targeted at key
information technology executives as well as senior marketing and finance managers and are intended
to build increased brand awareness. In addition, we conduct comprehensive public relations efforts
focused on cultivating industry analyst and media relationships with the goal of securing broad media
coverage and public recognition of our proprietary high speed public Internet communications
solutions.

Our marketing organization is responsible for expanding our value added service offerings into
horizontal markets as new bandwidth intensive applications such as telephone and facsimile
transmissions over the Internet, private networks, multimedia document distribution, audio and video
feeds and other emerging technologies are introduced.

Competition

The Internet-based connectivity services market is extremely competitive and there are few
substantial barriers to entry. We expect that competition will intensify in the future, and we may not
have the financial resources, technical expertise, sales and marketing abilities or support capabilities to
compete successfully in our market. Many of our existing competitors have greater market presence,
engineering and marketing capabilities, and financial, technological and personnel resources than we
do. Our competitors include:

* backbone providers that provide us connectivity services including AT&T, Cable & Wireless
USA, Genuity, Global Crossing Telecommunications, Intermedia, PSINet, Qwest
Communications International, Sprint Internet Services, UUNET Technologies and Verio (an
NTT Communications Corporation);

* regional Bell operating companies which offer Internet access; and
* global, national and regional Internet service providers.

We expect competition to intensify in the future. In addition, if we are successful in implementing
our international expansion, we will encounter additional competition from international Internet
service providers as well as international telecommunication companies. As new participants enter the
Internet connectivity services market, we will face increased competition. Such new competitors could
include computer hardware, software, media and other technology and telecommunications companies.
A number of telecommunications companies and online service providers currently offer, or have
announced plans to offer or expand, their network services. Other companies have expanded their
Internet access products and services as a result of acquisitions. Further, the ability of some of our
competitors to bundle other services and products with their network services could place us at a
competitive disadvantage. Various companies are also exploring the possibility of providing, or are
currently providing, high-speed data services using alternative delivery methods. In addition, Internet
backbone providers may make technological developments, such as improved router technology, that
will enhance the quality of their services.

We believe that the principal competitive factors in our market are speed and reliability of
connectivity, quality of facilities, level of customer service and technical support, price, brand
recognition, the effectiveness of sales and marketing efforts, and the timing and market acceptance of
new solutions and enhancements to existing solutions developed by us and our competitors. We believe
that we presently are positioned to compete favorably with respect to most of these factors. In
particular, many of our competitors have built and must maintain capital-intensive backbone



infrastructures that are highly dependent on traditional public and private peering exchanges. Each
backbone provider tries to offer high quality service within its own network but is unable to guarantee
service quality once data leaves its network, and there is little incentive to optimize the interoperability
of traffic between networks. We actively route traffic in an optimal manner, thereby providing
customers with a high level of service and increasing the efficiency of the backbone providers
themselves. However, the market for Internet connectivity services is evolving rapidly, and we cannot
assure you that we will compete successfully in the future. As a result, we may not maintain a
competitive position against current or future competitors. See “Risk Factors—Competition from More
Established Competitors Who Have Greater Revenues Could Decrease Our Market Share.”

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret and other intellectual
property law, nondisclosure agreements and other protective measures to protect our proprietary
technology. Internap and P-NAP are trademarks of Internap which are registered in the United States.
In addition, we have three patents that have been issued by the United States Patent and Trademark
Office, or USPTO. The dates of issuance for these patents range from September 1999 through
December 1999, and each of these patents is enforceable for a period of 20 years after the date of its
filing. We have eight additional applications pending, two of which are continuation in patent filings.
We may file additional applications in the future. Our patents and patent applications relate to our
service point technologies and other technical aspects of our services. In addition, we have filed
corresponding international patent applications under the Patent Cooperation Treaty.

We also enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and
consultants and control access to and distribution of our proprietary information. Despite our efforts to
protect our proprietary rights, departing employees and other unauthorized parties may attempt to copy
or otherwise obtain and use our products and technology. Monitoring unauthorized use of our products
and technology is difficult, and we cannot be certain that the steps we have taken will prevent
misappropriation of our technology, particularly in foreign countries where the laws may not protect
our proprietary rights as fully as in the United States.

From time to time, third parties may assert patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret and other
intellectual property rights claims or initiate litigation against us or our suppliers or customers with
respect to existing or future products and services. Although we have not been a party to any material
claims alleging infringement of intellectual property rights, we cannot assure you that we will not be
subject to these claims in the future. Further, we may in the future initiate claims or litigation against
third parties for infringement of our proprietary rights to determine the scope and validity of our
proprietary rights or those of our competitors. Any of these claims, with or without merit, may be time
consuming, result in costly litigation and diversion of technical and management personnel or require
us to cease using infringing technology, develop noninfringing technology or enter into royalty or
licensing agreements. Such royalty or licensing agreements, if required, may not be available on
acceptable terms, if at all. In the event of a successful claim of infringement and our failure or inability
to develop noninfringing technology or license the infringed or similar technology on a timely basis, our
business and results of operations may be seriously harmed.

Employees

As of December 31, 2000, we employed 773 full-time persons, 244 in technical support, 142 in
product development, 217 in sales and marketing and 170 in finance and administration. None of our
employees is represented by a labor union, and we have not experienced any work stoppages to date.
We consider our employee relations to be good.



Executive Officers

The following table sets forth the name, age and position of each of our executive officers as of
February 28, 2001. Our executive officers serve at the discretion of the board of directors.

Name Age Position

Anthony C. Naughtin ....... 45  Chief Executive Officer and President

Michael W. Vent . .......... 48  Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer

Paul E. McBride . .......... 38 Senior Vice President of Finance & Administration, Chief
Financial Officer and Secretary

Christopher D. Wheeler . . ... 34 Senior Vice President of Technology and Chief Technology
Officer

Jerome Conlon . ........... 44 Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer

Robert Gionesi . ........... 43  Corporate Vice President, Sales

Alan D. Norman . .......... 42 Corporate Vice President of Development

John Scanlon ............. 42 Group Vice President, Service Planning

Anthony C. Naughtin founded Internap and has served as our Chief Executive Officer and
President since May 1996. Mr. Naughtin has also served as a director since October 1997. Prior to
founding Internap, he was vice president for commercial network services at ConnectSoft, Inc., an
Internet and e-mail software developer, from May 1995 to May 1996. From February 1992 to
May 1995, Mr. Naughtin was the director of sales at NorthWestNet, an NSENET regional network.
Mr. Naughtin has served as a director of Fine.com International Corp., a services-computer processing
and data preparation company since December 1996. Mr. Naughtin holds a Bachelor of Arts in
communications from the University of lowa and is a graduate of the Creighton School of Law.

Michael W. Vent is Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer. Prior to joining Internap
in July 2000, Mr. Vent was President, Network Services and Information Technology and Chief Network
Officer at Broadwing Communications. Prior to Broadwing Communications, Mr. Vent was Vice
President of Network and Information Services for West Coast Telecommunications. Previous positions
Mr. Vent has held are Vice President, Information Technology and Chief Information Officer for
Progressive Communications Technology and Director of Computer and Networks for MCI
Telecommunications. Mr. Vent holds a Master in Business Administration from Baldwin and Wallace
College and a Bachelor of Science in Electronic Engineering from Franklin University.

Paul E. McBride is Senior Vice President of Finance and Administration, Chief Financial Officer
and Secretary. Prior to joining Internap in 1996, he was Vice President of Finance and Operations at
ConnectSoft from February 1995 to March 1996. From December 1992 to January 1995, he served as
Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Finance at PenUltimate, Inc., a software developer.

Mr. McBride holds a Bachelor of Arts in Economics and a Bachelor of Science in Finance from the
University of Colorado and holds a Master of Business Administration from the University of Southern
California.

Christopher D. Wheeler is Senior Vice President of Technology and Chief Technology Officer. Prior
to joining Internap in 1996, Mr. Wheeler was co-founder, President and Chief Executive Officer of
interGlobe Networks, Inc., a TCP/IP consulting firm from 1994 to 1996. Mr. Wheeler also worked in
advanced network/Internet technology areas at NorthwestNet, which is now Verio Northwest, and was
responsible for backbone engineering, routing technology design, network management tools
development, network operations and systems engineering at the University of Washington from 1989
to 1994. Mr. Wheeler holds a Bachelor of Science in Computer Science from the University of
Washington.

Jerome Conlon is Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer. Prior to joining Internap in
May 2000, Mr. Conlon was Senior Vice President of Marketing and Program Development at NBC.



Prior to NBC, Mr. Conlon served as Vice President of Brand Planning, Consumer Insights and
Category Management at Starbucks Coffee Company and in a variety of marketing and
communications positions over 14 years with Nike, Inc., including ten years as Director of Marketing
Insights. Mr. Conlon received his Master of Business Administration, magna cum laude, and Bachelor
of Arts, magna cum laude, from Gonzaga University in Spokane, Washington.

Robert Gionesi is Corporate Vice President, Sales. Prior to joining Internap in 1998, Mr. Gionesi
was Director of Sales for MCI’s Commercial Global account segment in New York City where he was
responsible for the sales and technical management of MCI’s largest accounts. Prior to MCI,

Mr. Gionesi held numerous senior sales positions at AT&T including Regional Technical Manager,
District Sales Manager and Senior Staff Manager for the Regional Vice President. Mr. Gionesi has a
degree in Business Communications from Adelphi University in Garden City, New York, and a Master
of Science in Telecommunications and Computing Management from Polytechnic University in
Brooklyn, New York.

Alan D. Norman is Corporate Vice President of Development. Prior to joining Internap in 1999,
Mr. Norman served as Vice President, General Manager of New Business Development at Etak, a unit
of Sony Corporation from May 1996 to August 1999. Mr. Norman served as Vice President, General
Manager of the Automotive Business Unit for Etak, then owned by News Corporation from
September 1992 through April 1996. Mr. Norman holds a Master of Science in Business from Stanford
University and a Bachelor of Science from Stanford University.

John Scanlon is Group Vice President, Service Planning. Since joining Internap in 2000,
Mr. Scanlon has served as Director of Carrier Relations and Vice President of Product Marketing.
Prior to joining Internap, Mr. Scanlon served as the President of Flat Rate Communications, Inc.,
which was acquired by Viatel. Mr. Scanlon continued on as a General Manager of Viatel after the
acquisition. Prior to his work with Flat Rate, Mr. Scanlon spent over a decade at MCI
Telecommunications as their Vice President and Director of Strategic Development, Director of
Business Development and Director of Finance and Information Systems. Mr. Scanlon holds a Masters
in Business Administration with honors from St. Mary’s College and a Bachelor of Science in Business
Administration, Financial Management from Oregon State University.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

As of December 31, 2000, our executive offices are located in two buildings in Seattle, Washington
and consist of approximately 74,100 square feet in one building that are leased under an agreement
that expires in 2003 and approximately 127,000 square feet in another building that are leased under an
agreement that expires in 2007. We lease facilities for our network operations center, sales offices and
service points in a number of metropolitan areas and specific cities. We believe our existing facilities,
including the additional space, are adequate for our current needs and that suitable additional or
alternative space will be available in the future on commercially reasonable terms as needed.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

From time to time, we may be involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of our ordinary
course of business. We are not currently involved in any material legal proceedings.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

None.



PART 1I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON STOCK AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER
MATTERS.

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Stock Market under the symbol “INAP.” Public
trading of the common stock commenced on September 29, 1999. Prior to that time, there was no
public market for our common stock. The table below sets forth the high and low sale price for our
common stock for the periods indicated as adjusted for our 100% share dividend paid on January 7,
2000 to shareholders of record on December 27, 1999:

High Low
Year Ended December 31, 2000:
Fourth QUATtEr . .. ..ottt e e $30% $ 4%
Third QuUarter . .. .. ... e 544 24
Second QUArter . . . . ..ot i e 50 2346
First QUarter . . ..ot e e e 111 456
Year Ended December 31, 1999
Fourth Quarter (from September 29, 1999) . .. ... ... . .. ... . 9235 10

As of February 28, 2001 the number of shareholders of record was 1,472. Because many of our
shares are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of shareholders, we are unable to estimate
the total number of beneficial shareholders represented by these record holders.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our stock. We currently intend to retain any
earnings for use in our business and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable
future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Use of Proceeds from Sales of Registered Securities

Our initial public offering of common stock was effected through a registration statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-84035) that was declared effective by the Commission on September 29, 1999
and pursuant to which we sold an aggregate of 21,850,000 shares of our common stock at $10.00 per
share to an underwriting syndicate managed by Morgan Stanley Dean Witter and including Credit
Suisse First Boston, Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette, and Hambrecht & Quist. As of December 31, 2000,
we had used the estimated aggregate net proceeds of $201.6 million from our initial public offering as
follows:

Construction of plant, building and facilities: $ 27.8 million
Purchase and installation of machinery and equipment: $ 36.3 million
Purchases of real estate: $ —
Acquisition of other businesses: $ 12.2 million
Repayment of indebtedness: $ 12.4 million
Working capital: $105.4 million
Temporary investments (interest bearing treasury securities

and corporate paper): $ 7.5 million

Our follow-on public offering of common stock was effected through a registration statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-95503) that was declared effective by the Commission on April 6, 2000 and
pursuant to which we sold an aggregate of 3,450,000 shares of our common stock at $43.50 per share to
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an underwriting syndicate managed by Morgan Stanley Dean Witter and including Credit Suisse First
Boston, Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette, Chase H&Q and Salomon Smith Barney. As of December 31,
2000, we had used the estimated aggregate net proceeds of $142.9 million from our follow-on public
offering as follows:

Construction of plant, building and facilities:

Purchase and installation of machinery and equipment:

Purchases of real estate:

Acquisition of other businesses:

Repayment of indebtedness:

Working capital:

Temporary investments (interest bearing treasury securities
and corporate paper): $142.9 million

R AR AR R A ARl
|

The foregoing amounts represent our best estimate of our use of proceeds for the period
indicated. No portion of payments of any commissions, finders fees, expenses paid to or for
underwriting or other offering expenses were made to our directors or officers or their associates,
holders of 10% or more of any class of our equity securities or to our affiliates.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The following selected financial data are qualified by reference to, and should be read in
conjunction with, our financial statements and the notes thereto and “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” appearing elsewhere in this annual report
on Form 10-K. The statement of operations data presented below for the years ended December 31,
1998, 1999 and 2000, and the selected balance sheet data at December 31, 1999 and 2000 are derived
from our audited financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K. The
statement of operations data presented below for the period from inception (May 1, 1996) to
December 31, 1997, and the selected balance sheet data at December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998 are
derived from our audited financial statements that are not included in this annual report on
Form 10-K.

Period from
Inception

(1\62{;1’1[};9?1}0 Year Ended December 31,

1996 1997 1998 1999 2000

(in thousands, except per share data)
Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues . ................... .. .... $ 44 $ 1,045 $1,957 $ 12,520 $§ 69,613
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of network and customer support . . . 321 1,092 3,216 27,412 99,376
Product development. . .............. 184 389 754 3,919 12,081
Sales and marketing . ............... 78 261 2,822 17,523 35,804
General and administrative ........... 378 713 1,910 8,328 36,322
Amortization of goodwill and other
intangible assets. . . ............... — — — — 54,334
Amortization of deferred stock
compensation ................... — — 205 7,569 10,651
Acquired in-process research and
development . ................... — — — — 18,000
Total operating costs and expenses. . . 961 2,455 8,907 64,751 266,568
Loss from operations . ................ (917) (1,410)  (6,950) (52,231) (196,955)
Other income (expense):
Interest income . . .................. 6 36 169 3,388 14,349
Interest and financing expense . . ....... (48) (235) (90)  (1,074) (2,851)
Loss on disposal of assets . ........... — — 102 — —
Netloss ... $(959) $(1,609) $(6,973) $(49,917) $(185,457)
Basic and diluted net loss per share (1) .. .. $ (.14) $ (24) $ (1.04) $ (1.31) § (1.30)

Weighted average shares used to compute
basic and diluted net loss per share (1) .. 6,666 6,666 6,673 37,994 142,451

As of December 31,

1996 1997 1998 1999 2000

(in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments ... $ 145 $4,770 § 275 $205,352 $152,930
Total @ssets . ... ...ttt 1,099 5987 7,487 245546 650,110
Notes payable and capital lease obligations, less

current portion . . . ...t 421 240 2,342 14,378 27,646
Total shareholders’ equity (deficit). . ............. 43 4,829 (436) 210,500 531,953

(1) See note 1 of notes to financial statements for a description of the computation of basic and
diluted net loss per share and the number of shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per
share.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

Overview

Internap is a leading provider of high performance Internet connectivity services targeted at
businesses seeking to maximize the performance of mission-critical Internet-based applications.
Customers connected to one of our service points have their data intelligently routed to and from
destinations on the Internet using our overlay network, which analyzes the traffic situation on the
multiplicity of networks that comprise the Internet and delivers mission-critical information and
communications faster and more reliably. Use of our overlay network results in lower instances of data
loss and greater quality of service than services offered by conventional Internet connectivity providers.

After we decide to open a new service point, we enter into a deployment phase which typically
lasts four to six months, during which time we execute the required steps to make the service point
commercially ready for service. Among other things, this usually entails obtaining collocation space to
locate our equipment, entering into agreements with backbone providers, obtaining local loop
connections from local telecommunications providers, building service points and initiating pre-sales
and marketing activities. Consequently, we usually incur a significant amount of upfront costs related to
making a service point commercially ready for service prior to generating revenues. Therefore, our
results of operations will be negatively affected during times of service point deployment.

As of December 31, 2000, we operate 29 service points which are located in the Amsterdam,
Atlanta, Boston, Chicago, Dallas, Denver, Fremont, CA, Houston, Los Angeles, Miami, New York,
Orange County, Philadelphia, San Diego, San Francisco, San Jose, Seattle and Washington, D.C.
metropolitan areas. We expect to have over 35 service points operational by the end of 2001.

Our customers are primarily businesses that desire high performance Internet connectivity services
in order to run mission-critical Internet-based applications. Due to our high quality of service, we
generally price our services at a premium to providers of conventional Internet connectivity services.
We expect to remain a premium provider of high quality Internet connectivity services and anticipate
continuing our pricing policy in the future. We believe customers will continue to demand the highest
quality of service as their Internet connectivity needs grow and become even more complex and, as
such, will continue to pay a premium for high quality service.

Our revenues are generated primarily from the sale of Internet connectivity services at fixed rate
or usage based pricing to our customers that desire a DS-3 or faster connection and other ancillary
services, such as collocation, content distribution, server management and installation services. We also
offer T-1 and fractional DS-3 connections only at fixed rates. We recognize revenues when persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, the service has been provided, the fees for the service rendered are
fixed or determinable and collectibility is probable. Customers are billed on the first day of each month
either on a usage or a flat-rate basis. The usage based billing relates to the month prior to the month
in which the billing occurs, whereas certain flat rate billings relate to the month in which the billing
occurs. Deferred revenues consist of revenues for services to be delivered in the future and consist
primarily of advance billings for flat rate customers, which are amortized over the respective service
period, and billings for initial installation of customer network equipment, which are amortized over
the estimated life of the customer relationship.

Network and customer support costs are comprised of the costs for connecting to and accessing
Internet backbone providers and competitive local exchange providers, as well as costs related to
deploying, operating, installing and maintaining service points and our network operations center. To
the extent a service point is located a distance from the respective Internet backbone providers, we may
incur additional local loop charges on a recurring basis. Additionally, rental fees and depreciation costs
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related to our service points and collocation facilities are included in cost of network and customer
support.

Product development costs consist principally of compensation and other personnel costs,
consultant fees and prototype costs related to the design, development and testing of our proprietary
technology, enhancement of our network management software and development of internal systems.
Product development costs are expensed as incurred.

Sales and marketing costs consist of compensation, commissions and other costs for personnel
engaged in marketing, sales and field service support functions, as well as advertising, tradeshows,
direct response programs, new service point launch events, management of our web site and other
promotional costs.

General and administrative costs consist primarily of compensation and other expenses for
executive, finance, human resources and administrative personnel, professional fees and other general
corporate costs.

On June 20, 2000, we completed our acquisition of CO Space. The acquisition was recorded using
the purchase method of accounting under APB Opinion No. 16. The aggregate purchase price of the
acquired company, plus related charges, was approximately $270.9 million and was comprised of the
issuance of our common stock, cash, acquisition costs and assumed options to purchase common stock.
We issued approximately 6.9 million shares of common stock and assumed options to purchase CO
Space common stock that were subsequently converted into options to purchase approximately 322,000
shares of our common stock to effect the acquisition. Results of operations of CO Space have been
included in our financial results from the closing date of the transaction forward.

As a result of the CO Space acquisition, we recorded a total of $255.1 million of intangible assets.
The intangible assets are being amortized to expense over their useful lives, which are estimated to be
three years, resulting in expense of $44.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2000.

On July 31, 2000, we completed our acquisition of VPNX.com. The acquisition was recorded using
the purchase method of accounting under APB Opinion No. 16. The aggregate purchase price of the
acquired company, plus related charges, was approximately $87.4 million and was comprised of issuance
of our common stock, cash, acquisition costs and assumed options to purchase common stock. We
issued approximately 2.0 million shares of common stock and assumed options to purchase VPNX
common stock that were subsequently converted into options to purchase approximately 268,000 shares
of our common stock to effect the transaction. Results of operations of VPNX have been included in
our financial results from the closing date of the acquisition forward.

As a result of the VPNX acquisition, we recorded a total of $67.9 million of intangible assets. The
intangible assets are being amortized to expense over their useful lives, which are estimated to be three
years, resulting in an expense of $9.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. We also recorded
an expense of $18.0 million related to acquired in-process research and development costs for the year
ended December 31, 2000. The amount allocated to acquired in-process research and development is
related to technology acquired from VPNX that was expensed immediately subsequent to the closing of
the acquisition since the technology had not completed the preliminary stages of development, had not
commenced application development and did not have alternative future uses. Furthermore the
technologies associated with the acquired in-process research and development do not have a proven
market and are sufficiently complex so that the probability of completion of a marketable service or
product cannot be determined. The fair value of the acquired in-process research and development was
determined using the income approach, which estimates the expected cash flows from projects once
commercially viable and discounts expected future cash flows to present value. The percentage of
completion for each project was determined based upon time and costs incurred on the project in
addition to the relative complexity. The percentages of completion varied by individual project and
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ranged from 25% to 70%. The discount rate of 35% used in the present value calculation was derived
from an analysis of weighted average costs of capital, weighted average returns on assets and venture
capital rates of returns adjusted for the specific risks associated with the in-process research and
development expense. The development of the acquired technologies remains a significant risk as the
nature of the efforts to develop the acquired technologies into commercially viable services consists
primarily of planning, designing and testing activities necessary to determine that the products can meet
customer expectations.

During the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1999, in connection with the grant of certain stock
options to employees, we recorded deferred stock compensation totaling $25.0 million, representing the
difference between the deemed fair value of our common stock on the date options were granted and
the exercise price. In connection with our acquisition of VPNX, we recorded deferred stock
compensation totaling $5.1 million related to unvested options we assumed. These amounts are
included as a component of shareholders’ equity and are being amortized over the vesting period of the
individual grants, generally four years, using an accelerated method as described in Financial
Accounting Standards Board Interpretations No. 28. We recorded amortization of deferred stock
compensation in the amount of $10.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. At December 31,
2000, we had a total of $11.7 million remaining to be amortized over the corresponding vesting periods
of the stock options.

The revenue and income potential of our business and market is unproven, and our limited
operating history makes it difficult to evaluate its prospects. We have only been in existence since 1996,
and our services are only offered in limited regions. We have incurred net losses in each quarterly and
annual period since our inception, and as of December 31, 2000, our accumulated deficit was
$244.9 million.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, as a percentage of total revenues, selected statement of operations
data for the periods indicated:

Year Ended
December 31,
1998 1999 2000
Revenues . . . ... 100%  100%  100%
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of network and customer support . .. ....... .. ... .. oL, 164 219 143
Product development. . ... ... .. .. .. 39 31 17
Sales and marketing . ....... ... ... ... . 144 140 52
General and administrative ... ....... ... . 98 67 52
Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets . . .............. — — 78
Amortization of deferred stock compensation . .................... 10 60 15
Acquired in-process research and development . ................... — — 26
Total operating costs and €Xpenses . . ... ........veuuveenneon.. 455 517 383
Loss from operations . ... ... ...« ..ttt (355) (417)  (283)
Other income (expense):
Interest iNCOME . . . . ..ot t 9 27 21
Interest and financing €Xpense . . .. ... ...ou vttt 5) %) 4
Loss on disposal of @ssets . ............ .ottt 5) — —
INEE LSS & o o o e e e e e e e e e e e e e (356)% (399)% (266)%
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Years Ended December 31, 1999 and 2000

Revenues. Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2000, increased by 457% to $69.6 million,
up from $12.5 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. Net loss for the year ended
December 31, 2000, was $185.5 million, or $1.30 per share, as compared to a net loss of $49.9 million,
or $1.31 per share, for the year ended December 31, 1999. The increase in Internet connectivity
revenues was attributable to the increased sales at our existing service points and the opening of 17
additional service points during 1999, resulting in a total of 29 operational service points at
December 31, 2000, as compared to 12 service points at December 31, 1999.

Costs of Network and Customer Support. Costs of network and customer support increased 263%
from $27.4 million for the year ended December 31, 1999, to $99.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000. This increase of $72.0 million was primarily due to increased connectivity costs
related to added connections to Internet backbone providers at each service point facility, comprising
50% of the increase, and to a lesser extent, additional compensation costs, comprising 14% of the
increase, depreciation expense, comprising 18% of the increase and facility rental expense, comprising
11% of the increase. Network and customer support costs as a percentage of total revenues are
generally greater than 100% for newly deployed service points because we incur Internet connectivity
capacity, network equipment and collocation facility costs in advance of securing new customers. We
expect these costs to increase in absolute dollars as we deploy additional service points.

Product Development. Product development costs increased 210% from $3.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 1999, to $12.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. This increase of
$8.2 million was primarily due to increased compensation costs. We expect product development costs
to increase in absolute dollars for the foreseeable future.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing costs increased 105% from $17.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 1999, to $35.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. This increase of
$18.3 million was primarily due to increased compensation costs related to the addition of sales and
support personnel. We expect sales and marketing costs to increase in absolute dollars for the
foreseeable future.

General and Administrative. General and administrative costs increased 337% from $8.3 million
for the year ended December 31, 1999, to $36.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. This
increase of $28.0 million was primarily due to compensation costs, comprising 32% of the increase,
professional services costs, comprising 16% of the increase, increased facility costs, comprising 14% of
the increase, recruiting costs, comprising 6% of the increase, and travel costs, comprising 5% of the
increase. We expect general and administrative costs to increase in absolute dollars as we deploy
additional service points.

Other Income (Expense). Other income (expense) consists of interest income, interest and
financing expense and other non-operating expenses. Other income, net, increased from other income,
net of $2.3 million for the year ended December 31, 1999, to other income, net of $11.5 million for the
year ended December 31, 2000. This increase of $9.2 million was primarily due to interest income
earned on the proceeds from our private equity financings and our initial and follow-on public
offerings.

Years Ended December 31, 1998 and 1999

Revenues. Revenues increased 525% from $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 1998, to
$12.5 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. This increase of $10.5 million was primarily due
to increased Internet connectivity revenues. The increase in Internet connectivity revenues was
attributable to the increased sales at our existing service points and the opening of nine additional
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service points during 1999, resulting in a total of 12 operational service points at December 31, 1999, as
compared to three service points at December 31, 1998.

Costs of Network and Customer Support. Costs of network and customer support increased 756%
from $3.2 million for the year ended December 31, 1998, to $27.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 1999. This increase of $24.2 million was primarily due to increased connectivity costs
related to added connections to Internet backbone providers at each service point facility, comprising
48% of the increase, and to a lesser extent, additional compensation costs, comprising 14% of the
increase, and depreciation expense related to the equipment at newly deployed service points,
comprising 13% of the increase. Network and customer support costs as a percentage of total revenues
are generally greater than 100% for newly deployed service points because we purchase Internet
connectivity capacity and network equipment and incur collocation facility costs in advance of securing
new customers. We expect these costs to increase in absolute dollars as we deploy additional service
points.

Product Development. Product development costs increased 411% from $0.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 1998, to $3.9 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. This increase of
$3.1 million was primarily due to compensation costs, comprising 52% of the increase, and outside
consulting fees, comprising 25% of the increase. We expect product development costs to increase in
absolute dollars for the foreseeable future.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing costs increased 525% from $2.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 1998, to $17.5 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. This increase of
$14.7 million was primarily due to compensation costs, comprising 66% of the increase, marketing and
advertising costs, comprising 11% of the increase, and to a lesser extent, facility costs related to the
addition of sales offices.

General and Administrative. General and administrative costs increased 337% from $1.9 million
for the year ended December 31, 1998, to $8.3 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. This
increase of $6.4 million was primarily due to compensation costs, comprising 46% of the increase,
increased depreciation and amortization costs due to the addition of corporate office space during the
third quarter of 1999, comprising 9% of the increase, and professional services costs, comprising 12%
of the increase. We expect general and administrative costs to increase in absolute dollars as we deploy
additional service points.

Other Income (Expense). Other income (expense) consists of interest income, interest and
financing expense and other non-operating expenses. Other income, net, increased from an expense of
$23,000 for the year ended December 31, 1998, to other income, net of $2.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 1999. This increase was primarily due to interest income earned on the proceeds from
our private equity financings and initial public offering.

Provision for Income Taxes

We have incurred operating losses from inception through December 31, 2000. We have recorded a
valuation allowance for the full amount of our net deferred tax assets, due to the uncertainty of our
ability to realize those assets in future periods.

As of December 31, 2000, we had net operating loss carry-forwards of $239.0 million. These loss
carry-forwards are available to reduce future taxable income and expire at various dates beginning in
2012. Under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, certain substantial changes in our ownership
may limit the amount of net operating loss carry-forwards that could be utilized annually in the future
to offset taxable income.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, we have financed our operations primarily through the issuance of our equity
securities, capital leases and bank loans. As of December 31, 2000, we have raised an aggregate of
approximately $404.0 million, net of offering expenses, through the sale of our equity securities. In
January 2000, we paid a 100% stock dividend on our common stock and, accordingly, all related
disclosures have been revised to reflect the stock dividend for all periods presented.

In October 1999, we sold 19,000,000 shares of our common stock at an initial public offering price
of $10.00 per share resulting in net proceeds of $176.7 million. During October 1999, in connection
with our initial public offering, the underwriters exercised their overallotment option, resulting in the
sale of an additional 2,850,000 shares of our common stock at $10.00 per share for additional net
proceeds of $26.5 million. Upon the closing of our initial public offering, all shares of outstanding
preferred stock converted into 98,953,050 shares of common stock.

Concurrent with the closing of our initial public offering on October 4, 1999, we sold 2,150,537
shares of common stock to Inktomi Corporation for $9.30 per share, resulting in proceeds of
$19.0 million. In conjunction with this investment, we issued a warrant to Inktomi to purchase 1,075,268
shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $13.95 per share. The warrant has a two-year term
and includes demand and piggyback registration rights. On November 24, 1999, Inktomi exercised 50%
of these warrants through a cashless exercise, resulting in the issuance of 397,250 shares of our
common stock to Inktomi. The agreement also prohibits Inktomi from acquiring additional shares of
our common stock for a period of two years.

On February 22, 2000, pursuant to an investment agreement, we purchased 588,236 shares of
Aventail Corporation Series D preferred stock at $10.20 per share for a total cash investment of
$6.0 million. The Series D preferred stock is convertible to common stock at a ratio of one share of
preferred stock to one share of common stock, subject to adjustment for certain equity transactions.
Additionally, we entered into a joint marketing agreement with Aventail which, among other things,
granted us limited exclusive rights to sell Aventail’s managed extranet service and granted Aventail
specified rights to sell our services. In return, we committed to either sell Aventail services or pay
Aventail, or a combination of both, which would result in Aventail’s receipt of $3.0 million over a
two-year period.

On April 6, 2000, 8,625,000 shares of our common stock were sold in a public offering at a price
of $43.50 per share. Of these shares, 3,450,000 were sold by us and 5,175,000 shares were sold by
selling shareholders. We did not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of shares of common stock
by the selling shareholders. Our proceeds from the offering were $142.9 million, net of underwriting
discounts and commissions of $7.1 million.

Pursuant to an investment agreement among us, Ledcor Limited Partnership, Worldwide Fiber
Holdings Ltd. and 360networks, Inc., on April 17, 2000, we purchased 374,182 shares of 360networks
Class A Non-Voting Stock at $5.00 per share and, on April 26, 2000, we purchased 1,122,545 shares of
360networks Class A Subordinate Voting Stock at $13.23 per share. The total cash investment was
$16.7 million. Additionally, we entered into a letter of intent with 360networks to negotiate a strategic
agreement that would provide us with long-haul fiber-optic bandwidth capacity and provide
360networks with our Internet connectivity services.

On August 10, 2000, we entered into a credit facility with Speedera Networks, which allows
Speedera to borrow up to $6.0 million from us. The credit facility bears interest at the prime rate plus
3% on the date of each draw and matures on May 31, 2002. As of December 31, 2000, we have
included $6.0 million in non-current investments related to Speedera borrowings under the credit
facility.
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At December 31, 2000, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of $152.9 million
and a revolving line of credit and equipment financing arrangements allowing us to borrow up to
$120.0 million, of which we had approximately $50.0 million available to us under these facilities.
Interest rates under these facilities range from 3% to 19%, and these facilities expire at various dates
through 2004. These financial arrangements contain financial covenants including covenants to maintain
certain liquidity ratios and minimum net worth. We were in compliance with all such covenants as of
December 31, 2000.

We are currently pursuing $150.0 million to $250.0 million in additional financing with leading
financial institutions. The majority of this financing is expected to be in the form of a credit facility. As
of the date of this report, the final terms, including the total facility amount, interest rate and
covenants, are currently being negotiated. We may be unable to successfully negotiate a definitive
agreement on terms acceptable to us.

Net cash used in operations was $5.3 million, $33.8 million and $95.1 million for the years ended
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively. Net cash used in operations for the years ended
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000, was primarily due to funding of net operating losses, in addition to
increases in accounts receivable and prepaid expenses, offset by non-cash charges and increases in
accounts payable (except for the year ended December 31, 2000, in which accounts payable decreased),
deferred revenue and accrued liabilities.

Net cash used in investing activities was $0.9 million, $68.0 million and $106.2 million in the years
ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively. Net cash used in investing activities in each
period reflects increased purchases of property and equipment not financed by capital leases. Purchases
of property and equipment related to service point deployments were primarily financed by capital
leases (such purchases are excluded from the net cash used in investing activities in the statement of
cash flows), and totaled $3.6 million, $15.9 million and $35.1 million for the years ended December 31,
1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively. Additionally, for the year ended December 31, 2000, $161.1 million
was used to purchase investments offset by proceeds of $132.8 million from the disposition of certain
investments, $8.5 million was used in connection with restrictions of cash and $12.2 million was used
for acquisitions.

Net cash provided from financing activitics was $1.7 million, $256.7 million and $148.2 million for
the years ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively. Net cash from financing activities
primarily reflects proceeds from sales of our equity securities and line of credit financing, offset by
principal payments made on capital leases.

We expect to spend significant additional capital for marketing activities, to recruit and train our
customer installation team and the sales force and to build out the sales facilities related to newly
deployed service points. In addition to service point deployment, although to a lesser extent, product
development and the development of our internal systems and software will continue to require
significant capital expenditures in the foreseeable future. We expect to continue to expend significant
amounts of capital on property and equipment related to the expansion of facility infrastructure,
computer equipment and for research and development laboratory and test equipment to support
on-going research and development operations.

During the next 12 months, we expect to meet our cash requirements with existing cash, cash
equivalents, short-term investments and cash flow from sales of our services. However, our capital
requirements depend on several factors, including the rate of market acceptance of our services, the
ability to expand our customer base, the rate of deployment of additional service points and other
factors. If our capital requirements vary materially from those currently planned, or if we fail to
generate sufficient cash flow from the sales of our services, we may require additional financing sooner
than anticipated or we may have to delay or abandon some or all of our development and expansion
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plans or otherwise forego market opportunities. We intend to invest cash in excess of current operating
requirements in short-term, interest-bearing, investment-grade securities.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by SFAS No. 137, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities—Deferral of the Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 133,” and
SFAS No. 138, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities,” is effective for
us as of January 1, 2001. These pronouncements establish accounting and reporting standards for
derivative instruments and hedging activities which, among other things, require that an entity recognize
all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the statement of financial position and measure those
derivatives at fair value. The adoption of SFAS No. 133 has not materially impacted our financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

In December 1999 the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 101 (“SAB 101”), “Revenue Recognition.” SAB 101, as amended, provides guidance with respect
to the SEC’s interpretation of existing authoritative accounting guidance on the recognition of revenue
in financial statements. Our adoption of SAB 101, effective January 1, 2000, has not materially
impacted our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 44 (“FIN
447"y “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation” in March 2000. FIN 44 provides guidance and
clarification to the application of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees.” Our adoption of FIN 44, effective July 1, 2000, has not materially impacted our
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

We maintain investment portfolio holdings of various issuers, types, and maturities, the majority of
which are commercial paper and government securities. These securities are generally classified as
available for sale and, consequently, are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value with unrealized
gains or losses reported as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Part of
this portfolio includes our investment of $16.7 million in a minority equity investment in 360networks, a
publicly traded company listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market. The value of the 360networks investment
is subject to market price volatility. We also have a $6.0 million equity investment in Aventail, an early
stage, privately held company, and a $6.0 million credit facility due from Speedera, an carly stage,
privately held company. These strategic investments are inherently risky, in part because the market for
the products or services being offered or developed by 360networks, Aventail and Speedera have not
been proven and may never materialize. Because of risk associated with these investments, we could
lose our entire initial investment in these companies.

The remaining portion of our investment portfolio, with a fair value of $54.8 million as of
December 31, 2000, is invested in commercial paper, government securities and corporate indebtedness
that could experience an adverse decline in fair value should an increase in interest rates occur. In
addition, declines in interest rates could have an adverse impact on interest earnings for our investment
portfolio. We do not currently hedge against these interest rate exposures.

The following sensitivity analysis presents hypothetical changes in the fair values of our investment
in 360networks, our only current public equity investment as of December 31, 2000. This modeling
technique measures the hypothetical change in fair values arising from selected hypothetical changes in
the stock price of 360networks. We selected stock price fluctuations of plus or minus 15%, 35% and
50% because there has been at least one movement in the Nasdaq Composite Index of at least 15% in
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each of the last three years and movements of at least 35% and 50% in at least one of the last three
years.

Valuation of Security Valuation of Security
Given X% Increase Given X% Decrease
. in Security’s Price in Security’s Price
atF ?12[}3‘;7%80 (in thousands) (in thousands)
Security (in thousands) 15% 35% 50% (15%) (35%) (50%)
360networks Capital Stock . . $19,083 $21,946 $25,762 $28,625 $16,221 $12,404 $9,542

As of December 31, 2000, all of our cash equivalents mature within three months and all of our
short-term investments mature within one year. Therefore, as of December 31, 2000, we believe the
reported amounts of cash and cash equivalents, investments and capital lease obligations to be
reasonable approximations of fair value and the market risk arising from our holdings of financial
instruments is minimal.

All of our revenues are realized currently in U.S. dollars and are from customers primarily in the
United States. Therefore, we do not believe we currently have any significant direct foreign currency
exchange rate risk.
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RISK FACTORS
Risks Related to the Company’s Business

We Have a History of Losses and Expect Future Losses and May Not Achieve or Sustain Annual
Profitability. We have incurred net losses in each quarterly and annual period since we began
operations. We incurred net losses of $7.0 million, $49.9 million and $185.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively. As of December 31, 2000, our accumulated deficit was
$244.9 million. As a result of our expansion plans, we expect to incur net losses and negative cash flows
from operations on a quarterly and annual basis for at least the next 18 months, and we may never
become profitable.

Our Limited Operating History Makes It Difficult to Evaluate Our Prospects. The revenue and
income potential of our business and market is unproven, and our limited operating history makes it
difficult to evaluate our prospects. We have only been in existence since 1996, and our services are only
offered in limited regions. Investors should consider and evaluate our prospects in light of the risks and
difficulties frequently encountered by relatively new companies, particularly companies in the rapidly
evolving Internet infrastructure and connectivity markets.

Our Actual Quarterly Operating Results May Disappoint Analysts’ Expectations, Which Could Have a
Negative Impact on Our Stock Price. Should our results of operations from quarter to quarter fail to
meet the expectations of public market analysts and investors, our stock price could suffer. Any
significant unanticipated shortfall of revenues or increase in expenses could negatively impact our
expected quarterly results of operations should we be unable to make timely adjustments to
compensate for them. Furthermore, a failure on our part to estimate accurately the timing or
magnitude of particular anticipated revenues or expenses could also negatively impact our quarterly
results of operations.

Because our quarterly results of operations have fluctuated in the past and will continue to
fluctuate in the future, investors should not rely on the results of any past quarter or quarters as an
indication of future performance in our business operations or stock price. For example, increases in
our quarterly revenues for the quarters ended December 31, 1999, through December 31, 2000, have
varied between 32.8% and 61.7%, and total operating costs and expenses, as a percentage of revenues,
have fluctuated between 295.7% and 484.2%. Fluctuations in our quarterly operating results depend on
a number of factors. Some of these factors are industry risks over which we have no control, including
the introduction of new services by our competitors, fluctuations in the demand and sales cycle for our
services, fluctuations in the market for qualified sales and other personnel, changes in the prices for
Internet connectivity we pay backbone providers, our ability to obtain local loop connections to our
service points at favorable prices, integration of people, operations, products and technologies of
acquired businesses and general economic conditions.

Other factors that may cause fluctuations in our quarterly operating results arise from strategic
decisions we have made or will make with respect to the timing and magnitude of capital expenditures
such as those associated with the deployment of additional service points and the terms of our Internet
connectivity purchases. For example, our practice is to purchase Internet connectivity from backbone
providers at new service points and license collocation space from providers before customers are
secured. We also have agreed to purchase Internet connectivity from some providers without regard to
the amount we resell to our customers.

Some of Our Customers Are Emerging Internet-Based Businesses That May Not Pay Us for Our Services
on a Timely Basis and May Not Succeed Over the Long Term. A portion of our revenues are derived from
customers that are emerging Internet-based businesses. The unproven business models of some of these
customers and an uncertain economic climate make their continued financial viability uncertain. Some
of these customers have encountered financial difficulties and, as a result, have delayed or defaulted on
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their payments to us. In the future others may also do so. If these payment difficulties are substantial,
our business and financial results could be seriously harmed.

We May Require Additional Capital in the Future and May Not Be Able to Secure Adequate Funds on
Terms Acceptable to Us. The expansion and development of our business will require significant capital,
which we may be unable to obtain, to fund our capital expenditures and operations, including working
capital needs. Our principal capital expenditures and lease payments include the purchase, lease and
installation of network equipment such as routers, telecommunications equipment and other computer
equipment as well as data center leasehold improvements. The timing and amount of our future capital
requirements may vary significantly depending on numerous factors, including regulatory, technological,
competitive and other developments in our industry. During the next 12 months, we expect to meet our
cash requirements with existing cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and cash flow from sales
of our services. However, our capital requirements depend on several factors, including the rate of
market acceptance of our services, the ability to expand our customer base, the rate of deployment of
additional service points and other factors. If our capital requirements vary materially from those
currently planned, or if we fail to generate sufficient cash flow from the sales of our services, we may
require additional financing sooner than anticipated or we may have to delay or abandon some or all of
our development and expansion plans or otherwise forego market opportunities.

We may not be able to obtain future equity or debt financing on favorable terms, if at all. Future
borrowing instruments, such as credit facilities and lease agreements, are likely to contain covenants
restricting our ability to incur further indebtedness and will likely require us to pledge assets as security
for borrowings thereunder. The notes will be subordinated to all of our existing and any future senior
indebtedness. Our inability to obtain additional capital on satisfactory terms may delay or prevent the
expansion of our business.

If We Are Unable to Manage Complications That Arise During Deployment of New Service Points, We
May Not Succeed in Our Expansion Plans. Any delay in the opening of new service points would
significantly harm our plans to expand our business. In our effort to deploy new service points, we face
various risks associated with significant construction projects, including identifying and locating service
point sites, construction delays, cost estimation errors or overruns, delays in connecting with local
exchanges, equipment and material delays or shortages, the inability to obtain necessary permits on a
timely basis, if at all, and other factors, many of which are beyond our control and all of which could
delay the deployment of a new service point. The deployment of new service points, each of which
takes approximately four to six months to complete, is a key element of our business strategy. In
addition to our 29 existing service points, we are planning to continue to deploy service points within
limited geographic regions, including foreign countries. Although we conduct market research in a
geographic area before deploying a service point, we do not enter into service contracts with customers
prior to building a new service point.

We Will Incur Additional Expense Associated with the Deployment of New Service Points and May Be
Unable to Effectively Integrate New Service Points into Our Existing Network, Which Could Disrupt Our
Service. New service points, if completed, will result in substantial new operating expenses, including
expenses associated with hiring, training, retaining and managing new employees, provisioning capacity
from backbone providers, purchasing new equipment, implementing new systems, leasing additional real
estate and incurring additional depreciation expense. In addition, if we do not institute adequate
financial and managerial controls, reporting systems, and procedures with which to operate multiple
service points in geographically dispersed locations, our operations will be significantly harmed.

If We Are Unable to Continue to Receive Cost-Effective Service from Our Backbone Providers, We May
Not Be Able to Provide Our Internet Connectivity Services on Profitable Terms, and These Backbone Providers
May Not Continue to Provide Service to Us. In delivering our services, we rely on Internet backbones,
which are built and operated by others. In order to be able to provide high performance routing to our
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customers through our service points, we must purchase connections from several Internet backbone
providers. There can be no assurance that these Internet backbone providers will continue to provide
service to us on a cost-effective basis, if at all, or that these providers will provide us with additional
capacity to adequately meet customer demand. Furthermore, it is very unlikely that we could replace
our Internet backbone providers on comparable terms.

Currently, in each of our fully operational domestic service points, we have connections to some
combination of the following 10 backbone providers: AT&T, Cable & Wireless USA, Genuity, Global
Crossing Telecommunications, Intermedia Communications, PSINet, Qwest Communications
International, Sprint Internet Services, UUNET Technologies and Verio (an NTT Communications
Corporation). We may be unable to maintain relationships with, or obtain necessary additional capacity
from, these backbone providers. Furthermore, we may be unable to establish and maintain relationships
with other backbone providers that may emerge or that are significant in geographic areas, such as Asia
and Europe, in which we locate our service points.

Competition from More Established Competitors Who Have Greater Revenues Could Decrease Our
Market Share. The Internet connectivity services market is extremely competitive, and there are few
substantial barriers to entry. We expect competition from existing competitors to intensify in the future,
and we may not have the financial resources, technical expertise, sales and marketing abilities or
support capabilities to compete successfully in our market. Many of our existing competitors have
greater market presence, engineering and marketing capabilities, and financial, technological and
personnel resources than we do. As a result, our competitors may have several advantages over us as
we seek to develop a greater market presence.

Our competitors currently include backbone providers that provide connectivity services to us,
regional Bell operating companies which offer Internet access, and global, national and regional
Internet service providers. In addition, Internet backbone providers may make technological
developments, such as improved router technology or the introduction of improved routing protocols,
that will enhance the quality of their services.

As we continue to implement our international expansion, we will encounter additional
competition from international Internet service providers as well as international telecommunications
companies in the countries where we provide services.

Competition from New Competitors Could Decrease Our Market Share. 'We also believe that new
competitors will enter our market. Such new competitors could include computer hardware, software,
media and other technology and telecommunications companies. A number of telecommunications
companies and online service providers have announced plans to offer or expand their network services.
For example, Genuity, PSINet and Verio (an NTT Communications Corporation) have expanded their
Internet access products and services through acquisition. Further, the ability of some of these potential
competitors to bundle other services and products with their network services could place us at a
competitive disadvantage. Various companies are also exploring the possibility of providing, or are
currently providing, high-speed data services using alternative delivery methods including the cable
television infrastructure, direct broadcast satellites, wireless cable and wireless local loop.

Pricing Pressure Could Decrease Our Market Share. Increased price competition or other
competitive pressures could erode our market share. We currently charge, and expect to continue to
charge, more for our Internet connectivity services than our competitors. For example, our current
standard pricing is approximately 5% more than UUNET’s current standard pricing and approximately
18% more than Sprint’s current standard pricing. By bundling their services and reducing the overall
cost of their solutions, telecommunications companies that compete with us may be able to provide
customers with reduced communications costs in connection with their Internet connectivity services or
private network services, thereby significantly increasing the pressure on us to decrease our prices. We
may not be able to offset the effects of any such price reductions even with an increase in the number
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of our customers, higher revenues from enhanced services, cost reductions or otherwise. In addition, we
believe that the Internet connectivity industry is likely to encounter consolidation in the future.
Consolidation could result in increased pressure on us to decrease our prices. Furthermore, the recent
downturn in the U.S. economy has resulted in many companies who require Internet connectivity to
reevaluate the cost of such services. We believe that a prolonged economic downturn could result in
existing and potential customers being unwilling to pay for premium Internet connectivity services,
which would harm our business.

A Failure in Our Network Operations Center, Service Points or Computer Systems Would Cause a
Significant Disruption in Our Internet Connectivity Services. Although we have taken precautions
against systems failure, interruptions could result from natural disasters as well as power loss,
telecommunications failure and similar events. Our business depends on the efficient and uninterrupted
operation of our network operations center, our service points and our computer and communications
hardware systems and infrastructure. If we experience a problem at our network operations center, we
may be unable to provide Internet connectivity services to our customers, provide customer service and
support or monitor our network infrastructure or service points, any of which would seriously harm our
business.

Because We Have Limited Experience Operating Internationally, Our International Expansion May Be
Limited. Although we currently operate in 18 domestic metropolitan markets, a key component of our
strategy is to expand into international markets. We have limited experience operating internationally.
We may not be able to adapt our services to international markets or market and sell these services to
customers abroad. In addition to general risks associated with international business expansion, we face
the following specific risks in our international business expansion plans:

* difficulties in establishing and maintaining relationships with foreign backbone providers and
local vendors, including collocation and local loop providers;

* difficulties in locating, building and deploying network operations centers and service points in
foreign countries, and managing service points and network operations centers across disparate
geographic areas; and

* exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.

We may be unsuccessful in our efforts to address the risks associated with our currently proposed
international operations, and our international sales growth may therefore be limited.

Our Brand Is Relatively New, and Failure to Develop Brand Recognition Could Hurt Our Ability to
Compete Effectively. To successfully execute our strategy, we must strengthen our brand awareness. If we
do not build our brand awareness, our ability to realize our strategic and financial objectives could be
hurt. Many of our competitors have well-established brands associated with the provision of Internet
connectivity services. To date, we have attracted our existing customers primarily through a relatively
small sales force and word of mouth. In order to build our brand awareness, we intend to increase our
marketing efforts significantly, which may not be successful, and we must continue to provide high
quality services. As part of our brand building efforts, we expect to increase our marketing budget
substantially as well as our marketing activities, including advertising, tradeshows, direct response
programs and new service point launch events.

We Are Dependent upon Our Key Employees and May Be Unable to Attract or Retain Sufficient Numbers
of Qualified Personnel. Our future performance depends to a significant degree upon the continued
contributions of our executive management team and key technical personnel. The loss of any member
of our executive management team or a key technical employee, such as our Chief Executive Officer,
Anthony Naughtin, our Chief Operating Officer, Michael Vent, our Chief Financial Officer, Paul
McBride, or our Chief Technology Officer, Christopher Wheeler, could significantly harm us. Any of
our officers or employees can terminate his or her relationship with us at any time. To the extent we
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are able to expand our operations and deploy additional service points, our workforce will be required
to grow. Accordingly, our future success depends on our ability to attract, hire, train and retain a
substantial number of highly skilled management, technical, sales, marketing and customer support
personnel. Competition for qualified employees is intense. Consequently, we may not be successful in
attracting, hiring, training and retaining the people we need, which would seriously impede our ability
to implement our business strategy.

If We Are Not Able to Support Our Rapid Growth Effectively, Our Expansion Plans May Be Frustrated
or May Fail. Our inability to manage growth effectively would seriously harm our plans to expand our
Internet connectivity services into new markets. Since the introduction of our Internet connectivity
services, we have experienced a period of rapid growth and expansion, which has placed, and continues
to place, a significant strain on all of our resources. For example, as of December 31, 1996, we had one
operational service point and nine employees compared to 29 operational service points and 773
full-time employees as of December 31, 2000. In addition, we had $12.5 million in revenues for the
year ended December 31, 1999, compared to $69.6 million in revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2000. Furthermore, we have recently begun to offer our services in Europe. We expect
our growth to continue to strain our management, operational and financial resources. For example, we
may not be able to install adequate financial control systems in an efficient and timely manner, and our
current or planned information systems, procedures and controls may be inadequate to support our
future operations. The difficulties associated with installing and implementing new systems, procedures
and controls may place a significant burden on our management and our internal resources.

If We Fail to Adequately Protect Our Intellectual Property, We May Lose Rights to Some of Our Most
Valuable Assets. We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret and other
intellectual property law, nondisclosure agreements and other protective measures to protect our
proprietary technology. Internap and P-NAP are trademarks of Internap that are registered in the
United States. In addition, we have three patents that have been issued by the United States Patent
and Trademark Office, or USPTO. The dates of issuance for these patents range from September 1999
through December 1999, and each of these patents is enforceable for a period of 20 years after the
date of its filing. We cannot assure you that these patents or any future issued patents will provide
significant proprietary protection or commercial advantage to us or that the USPTO will allow any
additional or future claims. We have eight additional applications pending, two of which are
continuation in patent filings. We may file additional applications in the future. Our patents and patent
applications relate to our service point technologies and other technical aspects of our services. In
addition, we have filed corresponding international patent applications under the Patent Cooperation
Treaty.

It is possible that any patents that have been or may be issued to us could still be successfully
challenged by third parties, which could result in our loss of the right to prevent others from exploiting
the inventions claimed in those patents. Further, current and future competitors may independently
develop similar technologies, duplicate our services and products or design around any patents that may
be issued to us. In addition, effective patent protection may not be available in every country in which
we intend to do business.

In addition to patent protection, we believe the protection of our copyrightable materials,
trademarks and trade secrets is important to our future success. We rely on a combination of laws, such
as copyright, trademark and trade secret laws and contractual restrictions, such as confidentiality
agreements and licenses, to establish and protect our proprietary rights. In particular, we generally
enter into confidentiality agreements with our employees and nondisclosure agreements with our
customers and corporations with whom we have strategic relationships. In addition, we generally
register our important trademarks with the USPTO to preserve their value and establish proof of our
ownership and use of these trademarks. Any trademarks that may be issued to us may not provide
significant proprietary protection or commercial advantage to us. Despite any precautions that we have
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taken, intellectual property laws and contractual restrictions may not be sufficient to prevent
misappropriation of our technology or deter others from developing similar technology.

We May Face Litigation and Liability Due to Claims of Infringement of Third Party Intellectual Property
Rights. The telecommunications industry is characterized by the existence of a large number of patents
and frequent litigation based on allegations of patent infringement. From time to time, third parties
may assert patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret and other intellectual property rights to
technologies that are important to our business. Any claims that our services infringe or may infringe
proprietary rights of third parties, with or without merit, could be time-consuming, result in costly
litigation, divert the efforts of our technical and management personnel or require us to enter into
royalty or licensing agreements, any of which could significantly harm our operating results. In addition,
in our customer agreements, we agree to indemnify our customers for any expenses or liabilities
resulting from claimed infringement of patents, trademarks or copyrights of third parties. If a claim
against us were to be successful, and we were not able to obtain a license to the relevant or a
substitute technology on acceptable terms or redesign our products to avoid infringement, our ability to
compete successfully in our competitive market would be impaired.

Because We Depend on Third Party Suppliers for Key Components of Our Network Infrastructure,
Failures of These Suppliers to Deliver Their Components as Agreed Could Hinder Our Ability to Provide Our
Services on a Competitive and Timely Basis. Any failure to obtain required products or services from
third party suppliers on a timely basis and at an acceptable cost would affect our ability to provide our
Internet connectivity services on a competitive and timely basis. We are dependent on other companies
to supply various key components of our infrastructure, including the local loops between our service
points and our Internet backbone providers and between our service points and our customers’
networks. In addition, the routers and switches used in our network infrastructure are currently
supplied by a limited number of vendors, including Cisco Systems, Inc. Additional sources of these
services and products may not be available in the future on satisfactory terms, if at all. We purchase
these services and products pursuant to purchase orders placed from time to time. Furthermore, we do
not carry significant inventories of the products we purchase, and we have no guaranteed supply
arrangements with our vendors. We have in the past experienced delays in installation of services and
receiving shipments of equipment purchased. To date, these delays have neither been material nor have
adversely affected us, but these delays could affect our ability to deploy service points in the future on
a timely basis. If Cisco Systems does not provide us with our routers, or if our limited source suppliers
fail to provide products or services that comply with evolving Internet and telecommunications
standards or that interoperate with other products or services we use in our network infrastructure, we
may be unable to meet our customer service commitments.

We Have Acquired and Expect to Acquire Other Businesses, and these Acquisitions Involve Numerous
Risks. We recently completed two significant business acquisitions. In June and July 2000, we acquired
CO Space and VPNX, respectively, in merger transactions. We expect to engage in additional
acquisitions in the future in order to, among other things, enhance our existing services and enlarge our
customer base. Acquisitions involve a number of risks that could potentially, but not exclusively, include
the following:

* difficulties in integrating the operations, personnel, technologies, products and services of the
acquired companies in a timely and efficient manner;

¢ diversion of management’s attention from normal daily operations;

* insufficient revenues to offset significant unforeseen costs and increased expenses associated with
the acquisitions;

e difficulties in completing projects associated with in-process research and development being
conducted by the acquired businesses;
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* risks associated with our entrance into markets in which we have little or no prior experience
and where competitors have a stronger market presence;

* deferral of purchasing decisions by current and potential customers as they evaluate the
likelihood of success of the acquisitions;

* difficulties in pursuing relationships with potential strategic partners who may view the combined
company as a more direct competitor than our predecessor entities taken independently;

* issuance by us of equity securities that would dilute ownership of existing shareholders;
* incurrence of significant debt, contingent liabilities and amortization expenses; and
* loss of key employees of the acquired companies.

Acquiring high technology businesses as a means of achieving growth is inherently risky. To meet
these risks, we must maintain our ability to manage effectively any growth that results from using these
means. Failure to manage effectively our growth through mergers and acquisitions could harm our
business and operating results and could result in impairment of related long term assets.

Risks Related to Our Industry

Because the Demand for Our Services Depends on Continued Growth in Use of the Internet, a Slowing
of this Growth Could Harm the Development of the Demand for Our Services. Critical issues concerning the
commercial use of the Internet remain unresolved and may hinder the growth of Internet use,
especially in the business market we target. Despite growing interest in the varied commercial uses of
the Internet, many businesses have been deterred from purchasing Internet connectivity services for a
number of reasons, including inconsistent or unreliable quality of service, lack of availability of
cost-effective, high-speed options, a limited number of local access points for corporate users, inability
to integrate business applications on the Internet, the need to deal with multiple and frequently
incompatible vendors and a lack of tools to simplify Internet access and use. Capacity constraints
caused by growth in the use of the Internet may, if left unresolved, impede further development of the
Internet to the extent that users experience delays, transmission errors and other difficulties. Further,
the adoption of the Internet for commerce and communications, particularly by those individuals and
enterprises that have historically relied upon alternative means of commerce and communication,
generally requires an understanding and acceptance of a new way of conducting business and
exchanging information. In particular, enterprises that have already invested substantial resources in
other means of conducting commerce and exchanging information may be particularly reluctant or slow
to adopt a new strategy that may make their existing personnel and infrastructure obsolete. The failure
of the market for business related Internet solutions to further develop could cause our revenues to
grow more slowly than anticipated and reduce the demand for our services.

Because the Internet Connectivity Market Is New and Our Viability Is Uncertain, There Is a Risk Our
Services May Not Be Accepted. We face the risk that the market for high performance Internet
connectivity services might fail to develop, or develop more slowly than expected, or that our services
may not achieve widespread market acceptance. This market has only recently begun to develop, is
evolving rapidly and likely will be characterized by an increasing number of entrants. There is
significant uncertainty as to whether this market ultimately will prove to be viable or, if it becomes
viable, that it will grow. Furthermore, we may be unable to market and sell our services successfully
and cost-effectively to a sufficiently large number of customers. We typically charge more for our
services than do our competitors, which may affect market acceptance of our services. We believe the
danger of nonacceptance is particularly acute during economic slowdowns. Finally, if the Internet
becomes subject to a form of central management, or if the Internet backbone providers establish an
economic settlement arrangement regarding the exchange of traffic between backbones, the problems
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of congestion, latency and data loss addressed by our Internet connectivity services could be largely
resolved, and our core business rendered obsolete.

If We Are Unable to Respond Effectively and on a Timely Basis to Rapid Technological Change, We May
Lose or Fail to Establish a Competitive Advantage in Our Market. The Internet connectivity industry is
characterized by rapidly changing technology, industry standards, customer needs and competition, as
well as by frequent new product and service introductions. We may be unable to successfully use or
develop new technologies, adapt our network infrastructure to changing customer requirements and
industry standards, introduce new services, such as virtual private networking and video conferencing,
or enhance our existing services on a timely basis. Furthermore, new technologies or enhancements that
we use or develop may not gain market acceptance. Our pursuit of necessary technological advances
may require substantial time and expense, and we may be unable to successfully adapt our network and
services to alternate access devices and technologies.

If our services do not continue to be compatible and interoperable with products and architectures
offered by other industry members, our ability to compete could be impaired. Our ability to compete
successfully is dependent, in part, upon the continued compatibility and interoperability of our services
with products and architectures offered by various other industry participants. Although we intend to
support emerging standards in the market for Internet connectivity, there can be no assurance that we
will be able to conform to new standards in a timely fashion, if at all, or maintain a competitive
position in the market.

New Technologies Could Displace Our Services or Render Them Obsolete. New technologies and
industry standards have the potential to replace or provide lower cost alternatives to our services. The
adoption of such new technologies or industry standards could render our existing services obsolete and
unmarketable. For example, our services rely on the continued widespread commercial use of the set of
protocols, services and applications for linking computers known as Transmission Control Protocol/
Internetwork Protocol, or TCP/IP. Alternative sets of protocols, services and applications for linking
computers could emerge and become widely adopted. A resulting reduction in the use of TCP/IP could
render our services obsolete and unmarketable. Our failure to anticipate the prevailing standard or the
failure of a common standard to emerge could hurt our business. Further, we anticipate the
introduction of other new technologies, such as telephone and facsimile capabilities, private networks,
multimedia document distribution and transmission of audio and video feeds, requiring broadband
access to the Internet, but there can be no assurance that such technologies will create opportunities
for us.

Service Interruptions Caused by System Failures Could Harm Customer Relations, Expose Us to Liability
and Increase Our Capital Costs. Interruptions in service to our customers could harm our customer
relations, expose us to potential lawsuits and require us to spend more money adding redundant
facilities. Our operations depend upon our ability to protect our customers’ data and equipment, our
equipment and our network infrastructure, including our connections to our backbone providers,
against damage from human error or “acts of God.” Even if we take precautions, the occurrence of a
natural disaster or other unanticipated problem could result in interruptions in the services we provide
to our customers.

Capacity Constraints Could Cause Service Interruptions and Harm Customer Relations. Failure of the
backbone providers and other Internet infrastructure companies to continue to grow in an orderly
manner could result in capacity constraints leading to service interruptions to our customers. Although
the national telecommunications networks and Internet infrastructures have historically developed in an
orderly manner, there is no guarantee that this orderly growth will continue as more services, users and
equipment connect to the networks. Failure by our telecommunications and Internet service providers
to provide us with the data communications capacity we require could cause service interruptions.
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Our Network and Software Are Vulnerable to Security Breaches and Similar Threats Which Could Result
in Our Liability for Damages and Harm Our Reputation. Despite the implementation of network security
measures, the core of our network infrastructure is vulnerable to computer viruses, break-ins, network
attacks and similar disruptive problems. This could result in our liability for damages, and our
reputation could suffer, thereby deterring potential customers from working with us. Security problems
caused by third parties could lead to interruptions and delays or to the cessation of service to our
customers. Furthermore, inappropriate use of the network by third parties could also jeopardize the
security of confidential information stored in our computer systems and in those of our customers.

Although we intend to continue to implement industry-standard security measures, in the past
some of these industry-standard measures have occasionally been circumvented by third parties,
although not in our system. Therefore, there can be no assurance that the measures we implement will
not be circumvented. The costs and resources required to eliminate computer viruses and alleviate
other security problems may result in interruptions, delays or cessation of service to our customers,
which could hurt our business.

Should the Government Modify or Increase Regulation of the Internet, the Provision of Our Services
Could Become More Costly. There is currently only a small body of laws and regulations directly
applicable to access to or commerce on the Internet. However, due to the increasing popularity and use
of the Internet, international, federal, state and local governments may adopt laws and regulations that
affect the Internet. The nature of any new laws and regulations and the manner in which existing and
new laws and regulations may be interpreted and enforced cannot be fully determined. The adoption of
any future laws or regulations might decrease the growth of the Internet, decrease demand for our
services, impose taxes or other costly technical requirements or otherwise increase the cost of doing
business on the Internet or in some other manner have a significantly harmful effect on us or our
customers. The government may also seek to regulate some segments of our activities as it has with
basic telecommunications services. Moreover, the applicability to the Internet of existing laws governing
intellectual property ownership and infringement, copyright, trademark, trade secret, obscenity, libel,
employment, personal privacy and other issues is uncertain and developing. We cannot predict the
impact, if any, that future regulation or regulatory changes may have on our business.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

The index to our consolidated financial statements, financial schedules, and the Report of the
Independent Accountants appears in Part IV of this Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT.
(a) Executive Officers
Please refer to the section entitled “Executive Officers” in Part I, Item 1 hereof.
(b) Directors

Our directors and their ages as of February 28, 2001, are as follows:

Name Age
Eugene Eidenberg . . .. ... .. 61
William J. Harding . . ... ... 53(1)
Fredric W. Harman . . . ... ... 40(1)
Anthony C. Naughtin . . .. ... 45
Kevin L. Ober . . ... 39(1)(2)
Robert D. Shurtleff, Jr. . .. ... 46(2)

(1) Members of the Audit Committee.
(2) Members of the Compensation Committee.

Eugene Eidenberg (age 61) has served as a director and chairman of Internap since
November 1997. Mr. Eidenberg has been a Managing Director of Granite Venture Associates LLC
since 1999 and has served as a Principal of Hambrecht & Quist Venture Associates since 1998 and was
an advisory director at the San Francisco investment banking firm of Hambrecht & Quist from 1995 to
1998. Mr. Eidenberg served for 12 years in a number of senior management positions with MCI
Communications Corporation. His positions at MCI included Senior Vice President for Regulatory and
Public Policy, President of MCI'’s Pacific Division, Executive Vice President for Strategic Planning and
Corporate Development and Executive Vice President for MCI’s international businesses.
Mr. Eidenberg is currently a director of AAPT Ltd. and several private companies. Mr. Eidenberg
holds a Ph.D. and a Master of Arts degree from Northwestern University and a Bachelor of Arts
degree from the University of Wisconsin.

William J. Harding (age 53) has served as a director of Internap since January 1999. Dr. Harding is
a General Partner of Morgan Stanley Dean Witter Venture Partners located in Menlo Park, California.
He joined Morgan Stanley Dean Witter & Co., Inc. in October 1994. Dr. Harding is currently a
Director of Commerce One, Inc. and several private companies. Prior to joining Morgan Stanley Dean
Witter, Dr. Harding was a General Partner of several venture capital partnerships affiliated with J.H.
Whitney & Co. Previously, Dr. Harding was associated with Amdahl Corporation from 1976 to 1985,
serving in various technical and business development roles. Prior to Amdahl, Dr. Harding held several
technical positions with Honeywell Information Systems. Dr. Harding holds a Bachelor of Science in
Engineering Mathematics and a Master of Science in Systems Engineering from the University of
Arizona, and a Ph.D. in Engineering from Arizona State University. Dr. Harding served as an officer in
the Military Intelligence Branch of the United States Army Reserve.

Fredric W. Harman (age 40) has served as a director of Internap since January 1999. Since 1994,
Mr. Harman has served as a Managing Member of the General Partners of venture capital funds
affiliated with Oak Investment Partners. Mr. Harman served as a General Partner of Morgan Stanley
Venture Capital, L.P. from 1991 to 1994. Mr. Harman serves as a director of Avenue A, Inktomi
Corporation, Primus Knowledge Solutions, Quintus Corporation and several privately held companies.
Mr. Harman holds a Bachelor of Science degree and a Master degree in electrical engineering from
Stanford University and a Master of Business Administration from Harvard University.
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Anthony C. Naughtin (age 45) founded Internap and has served as our Chief Executive Officer and
President since May 1996. Mr. Naughtin has also served as a director since October 1997. Prior to
founding Internap, he was vice president for commercial network services at ConnectSoft, Inc., an
Internet and e-mail software developer, from May 1995 to May 1996. From February 1992 to
May 1995, Mr. Naughtin was the director of sales at NorthWestNet, an NSENET regional network.
Mr. Naughtin has served as a director of Fine.com International Corp., a services-computer processing
and data preparation company since December 1996. Mr. Naughtin holds a Bachelor of Arts in
communications from the University of lowa and is a graduate of the Creighton School of Law.

Kevin L. Ober (age 39) has served as a director of Internap Network Services since October 1997.
From February 2000 to the present Mr. Ober has been involved in various business activities including
sitting on the boards of several start-up companies including PictureIQ and HealthRadius. From
November 1993 to January 2000 Mr. Ober was a member of the investment team at Vulcan Ventures
Incorporated. Prior to working at Vulcan Ventures, Mr. Ober served in various positions at Conner
Peripherals, Inc., a computer hard disk drive manufacturer. Mr. Ober holds a Master of Business
Administration from Santa Clara University and Bachelor of Science degree in business administration
from St. John’s University.

Robert D. Shurtleff, Jr. (age 46) has served as a director of Internap since January 1997. In 1999,
Mr. Shurtleff founded S.L. Partners, a strategic consulting group focused on early stage companies.
From 1988 to 1998, Mr. Shurtleff held various positions at Microsoft Corporation, including Program
Management and Development Manager and General Manager. Mr. Shurtleff is currently a director of
four private companies and also serves on technical advisory boards of several private companies and
venture capital firms. Prior to working at Microsoft Corporation, Mr. Shurtleff worked at Hewlett
Packard Company from 1979 to 1988. Mr. Shurtleff holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in computer
science from the University of California at Berkeley.

Board committees and meetings

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000, the board of directors held 10 meetings and
acted by unanimous written consent six times. The board of directors has an audit committee and a
compensation committee.

The audit committee meets with our independent accountants at least annually to review the
results of the annual audit and discuss the financial statements; recommends to the board of directors
the independent accountants to be retained; oversees the independence of the independent
accountants; evaluates the independent accountants’ performance; and receives and considers the
independent accountants’ comments as to controls, adequacy of staff and management performance
and procedures in connection with audit and financial controls. The audit committee is composed of
three directors: William J. Harding, Fredric W. Harman and Kevin L. Ober. The audit committee held
four meetings during the fiscal year. All members of Internap’s audit committee are independent as
independence is defined in Rule 4200(a)(15) of the NASD listing standards. The audit committee has
adopted a written audit committee charter.

The compensation committee reviews and recommends to the board of directors the compensation
and benefits of all Internaps’ officers and establishes and reviews general policies relating to
compensation and benefits for our employees. The compensation committee consists of two
nonemployee directors: Kevin L. Ober and Robert D. Shurtleff, Jr. The compensation committee held
two meetings during the fiscal year and acted by unanimous written consent 124 times. A report of the
compensation committee is included later in this annual report.

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000, each member of Internaps’ board of directors
attended at least 75% of the meetings of the board of directors and of the committees on which he
served that were held during the period for which he was a director or committee member.
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SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires our directors and
executive officers, and persons who own more than ten percent of a registered class of our equity
securities, to file with the Commission initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership
of common stock and other equity securities of ours. Officers, directors and greater than ten percent
shareholders are required by Commission regulation to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms
they file.

To our knowledge, based solely on a review of the copies of such reports furnished to us and
written representations that no other reports were required, during the fiscal year ended December 31,
2000, all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to our officers, directors and greater than ten
percent shareholders were complied with; except that three reports, covering an aggregate of three
transactions, were filed late by Mr. Charles M. Ortega, our former Vice President of Sales.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.
Compensation of directors

Our directors currently do not receive any cash compensation for their services on the board of
directors or any committees of the board of directors. They are reimbursed for certain expenses in
connection with attendance at board of directors and committee meetings. From time to time, certain
non-employee directors have received grants of options to purchase shares of our common stock. In
March 1998, Messrs. Eidenberg and Ober each were granted an option to purchase 400,000 shares of
our common stock at an exercise price of $.03 per share. Upon the closing of our initial public offering
on October 4, 1999, non-employee directors received an initial option to purchase 80,000 shares of
common stock and receive an annual option to purchase 20,000 shares of common stock under our
1999 non-employee directors’ stock option plan.

Compensation of executive officers

The table below sets forth summary information concerning compensation paid by us during the
fiscal years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively, to (a) our Chief Executive Officer
and President and (b) four of our other executive officers other than the Chief Executive Officer whose
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salary and bonus for fiscal year 2000 exceeded $100,000, and who served as an executive officer during
fiscal year 2000 (our “Named Executive Officers”):

Summary Compensation Table

Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation
All Other Securities All Other
Annual Underlying Annual
Name and Principal Position Year Salary ($) Bonus ($) Compensation ($) Options (#) Compensation ($)
Anthony C. Naughtin. . ...... 2000 347,344 100,000 — — —
President and Chief Executive 1999 171,239 58,500 — 600,000 —
Officer 1998 123,750 — — — —
Michael W. Vent (1) ........ 2000  175,259(2) 100,000 — 825,000 —
Executive Vice President
and Chief Operating Officer
Paul E. McBride . .......... 2000 250,000 75,000 — — —
Senior Vice President of 1999 137,996 54,000 — 400,000 —
Finance & Administration, 1998 113,750 — — — —
Chief Financial Officer and
Secretary
Christopher D. Wheeler . . . . .. 2000 250,000 75,000 — — —
Senior Vice President of 1999 137,500 54,000 — 400,000 —
Technology and Chief 1998 113,750 — — — —
Technology Officer
Jerome Conlon (1) ......... 2000 155,760 75,000 — 309,000 —

Vice President and Chief
Marketing Officer

(1) Mssrs. Conlon and Vent joined us in 2000.

(2) Consists of in relocation expenses.

Stock Option Grants in the Last Fiscal Year

The following table sets forth information regarding options granted to the Named Executive
Officers during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000:

Potential Realizable
Value at Assumed
Annual Rates of Stock
Appreciation for Option

Individual Grants Term ($)
Shares Total Options Exercise
Underlying Granted to  Price Per
Options Employees in Share  Expiration
Name Granted (#) Fiscal Year (%) % Date 5% 10%
Michael W. Vent ... ............... 750,000 5.8 31.63 8/1/10 14,918,953 37,807,556
75,000 * 6.68  12/20/10 315,076 798,465
Jerome Conlon . .................. 300,000 23 33.87 5/14/10 6,390,198 16,194,017
9,000 * 6.68  12/20/10 37,809 95,816

*  Less than 1%

The 5% and 10% assumed annual rates of compounded stock price appreciation are mandated by
rules of the Commission. There can be no assurance provided to any executive officer or any other
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holder of our securities that the actual stock price appreciation over the option term will be at the
assumed 5% and 10% levels or at any other defined level.

The option to purchase 75,000 shares granted to Mr. Vent and the option to purchase 9,000 shares
granted to Mr. Conlon vest monthly over two years from the grant date. The remaining options vest as
to twenty-five percent on the first anniversary of the date of hire and the remainder in equal
installments each month over the three-year period following the first anniversary of the date of hire.
Options were granted at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of our common stock, as
determined by the board of directors on the date of grant.

Aggregated Option Exercises in the Last Fiscal Year
and Fiscal Year-End Option Values

The following table sets forth information as of December 31, 2000 regarding options held by the
Named Executive Officers. There were no stock appreciation rights outstanding at December 31, 2000:

Number of Securities

Underlying Unexercised Value of Unexercised
Options at Fiscal Year- In-The-Money Options at
Shares End (#) Fiscal Year-End ($)
Acquired on Value
Name Exercise (#) Realized ($) Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable
Anthony C. Naughtin .......... — — 237,500 362,500 1,246,875 1,903,125
Michael W. Vent . . ............ — — — 750,000 — —
— — — 75,000 — 42,075
Paul E. McBride . . ............ — — 158,333 241,667 1,118,248 1,268,752
Christopher D. Wheeler ........ — — 158,333 241,667 1,118,248 1,268,752
Jerome Conlon . .............. — — — 300,000 — —
— — — 9,000 — 5,049

In the table above, the value of the unexercised in-the-money options is based on the fair market
value of our common stock, based upon the last reported sales price of our common stock on
December 29, 2000 of $7.25, minus the per share exercise price multiplied by the number of shares.

Employment Agreements and Change in Control

We have entered into employment letter agreements with several of our officers, including
Anthony C. Naughtin, Paul E. McBride, Christopher D. Wheeler, Michael W. Vent and Jerome Conlon.
Each letter agreement sets forth the officer’s initial compensation level. Under each letter agreement
the officer serves at-will and employment may be terminated by us or by the officer at any time, with
or without cause and with or without notice. Each employment agreement contains a noncompetition
covenant that is effective for one year after termination of employment.

Our 1999 Equity Incentive Plan provides that in the event the executive officers are terminated
without cause or resign for good reason within 13 months after a change in control, all of the options
held by such officers will vest in full and will become fully exercisable.

REPORT OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The compensation committee of the board of directors consists of Kevin L. Ober and Robert D.
Shurtleff, Jr., each of whom is a nonemployee director. The compensation committee is responsible for
establishing and administering compensation policies and programs for Internap’s executive officers.
This report reflects our compensation philosophy.
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Executive officer compensation

Internap’s executive compensation program has been designed to: (i) ensure that compensation
provided to executive officers is closely aligned with our business objectives and financial performance;
(ii) enable us to attract and retain those officers who contribute to its long-term success; and
(iif) maximize shareholder value.

Executive compensation generally consists of three components: (i) base salary; (ii) annual cash
bonus; and (iii) long-term incentive awards. The Chief Executive Officer annually recommends
executive officer compensation levels to the compensation committee. The compensation committee
makes the final determination of executive compensation levels but relies on the Chief Executive
Officer’s annual recommendations because it believes the Chief Executive Officer is the most qualified
person to make assessments about individual performance.

The compensation committee annually reviews and establishes each executive officer’s
compensation package by considering: (i) the extent to which specified corporate objectives for the
preceding year were attained; (ii) the experience and contribution levels of the individual executive
officer; and (iii) to a lesser extent, the salary and bonus levels of executive officers in similar positions
in companies in the same or related industries as Internap.

The primary corporate objectives set by the compensation committee for the 1999 fiscal year were,
in order of importance: (i) revenue growth goals; (ii) service point deployment goals; (iii) successful
liquidity event, including an initial public offering; (iv) customer growth goals; and (v) employee and
management headcount growth goals. The compensation committee determined that the executive
officers had successfully met or exceeded each of these key objectives for the 1999 fiscal year. Because
each of the named executive officers contributed substantially to the achievement of those objectives,
the compensation committee authorized executive salary increases in the 2000 fiscal year for each
executive officer that joined Internap prior to the 2000 fiscal year. Achievement of these key corporate
objectives was the primary reason for increasing 2000 fiscal year base salary levels of the executive
officers.

To a lesser extent, the compensation committee surveys the executive cash compensation levels of
other companies in the same industry as Internap and in related industries, some of which are included
in the Goldman/Sachs Internet Index. Each company surveyed by the committee is deemed to be
comparative in terms of industry, size and product and service offerings. In connection with these
reviews, the committee does not consider our financial performance relative to the financial
performance of the surveyed companies.

The compensation committee awards annual cash bonuses for executive officers (other than those
who receive commissions) on an annual basis. These awards are intended to provide a direct link
between management compensation and the achievement of corporate and individual objectives. The
maximum level of bonus is 50% of the executive officer’s base salary as of the end of the preceding
fiscal year. At the beginning of each year, Internap sets certain corporate objectives (including financial
performance goals), and each individual manager sets his or her own personal objectives to support the
achievement of the corporate objectives. At the end of the year, performance is assessed and the level
of bonus payable, if any, is determined. Achievement of corporate objectives is given more weight than
achievement of individual objectives for purposes of determining the annual bonus. The primary
corporate objectives set by the compensation committee for the 1999 fiscal year were the same five
objectives used for determining the 2000 fiscal year salary levels. The committee determined that all of
the above objectives were met or exceeded and, therefore, all of our executive officers received their
maximum bonus award in 2000. The increase in bonus awards, in terms of absolute dollars, in the 2000
fiscal year as compared to the 1999 fiscal year, is substantially attributable to the corresponding
increases in base salaries over the same periods. Bonuses paid to Messrs. Vent and Conlon, however,
were sign-on bonuses negotiated in connection with their joining us during the 2000 fiscal year.
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The compensation committee also grants stock options to executive officers to provide long-term
incentives that are aligned with the creation of increased shareholder value over time. Options typically
are granted at fair market value at the date of grant, have a ten year term and generally vest 25% on
the first anniversary of vesting commencement date and in equal 36 monthly installments thereafter.
Most stock option grants to executive officers occur in conjunction with the executive officer’s
acceptance of employment with Internap. The compensation committee, however, reviews stock option
levels for all executive officers throughout each fiscal year in light of long-term strategic and
performance objectives and each executive officer’s current and anticipated contributions to our future
performance and is able to adjust these levels. When determining the number of stock options to be
awarded to an executive officer, the compensation committee considers the executive officer’s current
contribution to our performance, the executive officer’s past option awards, the executive officer’s
anticipated contribution in meeting our long-term strategic performance goals and comparisons to
formal and informal surveys of executive stock option grants made by other Internet infrastructure
companies. In 2000, the compensation committee granted options to purchase an aggregate of
1,134,000 shares to executive officers at an exercise price equal to fair market value on the date of
grant. These options were granted only to executives who joined us during the 2000 fiscal year and
were based on negotiations with those executive officers.

Compensation of Internap Network Services’ Chief Executive Officer

The compensation committee reviews Mr. Naughtin’s compensation annually using the same
criteria and policies as are employed for other executive officers. Mr. Naughtin’s total annual cash
bonus for 2000 represented 50% of his ending base salary for the 1999 fiscal year, or $100,000, in
recognition of his significant contributions in leading Internap to successfully meeting and exceeding
the corporate objectives identified above during the 1999 fiscal year.

Compensation payments in excess of $1 million to the Chief Executive Officer or the other five
most highly compensated executive officers are subject to a limitation on deductibility for Internap
under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Certain performance-based
compensation is not subject to the limitation on deductibility. The compensation committee does not
expect cash compensation in 2000 to our Chief Executive Officer or any other executive officer to be in
excess of $1 million. We intend to maintain qualification of our Amended and Restated 1998 Stock
Options/Stock Issuance Plan, Amended 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, 2000 Non-Officer Equity Incentive
Plan, as amended, Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Incentive Plan for Non-Officers, Switchsoft
Systems, Inc. Founders 1996 Stock Option Plan and Switchsoft Systems, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan
for the performance-based exception to the $1 million limitation on deductibility of compensation
payments.

The compensation committee believes its executive compensation philosophy serves Internap’s
interests and the interests of its shareholders.
Compensation committee members

Kevin L. Ober

Robert D. Shurtleff, Jr.
Compensation committee interlocks and insider participation

None of our executive officers serves as a member of the board of directors or compensation
committee of any entity that has one or more executive officers serving as a member of our board of
directors or compensation committee.
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Change of control arrangements in equity incentive plans

Under our Amended and Restated 1998 Stock Options/Issuance Plan, Amended 1999 Equity
Incentive Plan, 2000 Non-Officer Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, Amended and Restated 1999
Stock Incentive Plan for Non-Officers, Switchsoft Systems, Inc. Founders 1996 Stock Option Plan and
Switchsoft Systems, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan, if a change in control occurs, including the sale of
substantially all of Internap Network Services’ assets or a merger with or into another corporation, any
outstanding options held by persons then performing services for Internap as an employee, director or
consultant:

* may either be assumed or continued;
* may be substituted with an equivalent award by the surviving entity; or

* will, if the options are not assumed, continued or substituted, become fully exercisable, including
shares as to which they would not otherwise be exercisable, and restricted stock will become
fully vested.

Options also become fully exercisable upon the occurrence of a securities acquisition representing
50% or more of the combined voting power of Internap’s securities, or if a participant’s service is
terminated by a surviving corporation for any reason other than “for cause” within 13 months following
a change in control.
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Performance measurement comparison

The graph set forth below compares cumulative total return to Internap’s shareholders with the

cumulative total return of the Nasdaq Composite Index and the Goldman/Sachs Internet Index,

resulting from an initial assumed investment of $100 in each and assuming the reinvestment of any
dividends, beginning September 29, 1999, the first day of trading of the common stock, and ending at
December 31, 1999 and December 29, 2000, respectively.

Comparison of Cumulative Total Return Among

Internap Network Services Corporation, the Nasdaq Composite Index

and the Goldman/Sachs Internet Index
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT.

The following table sets forth as of February 28, 2001 information regarding the beneficial
ownership of Internap’s common stock by (i) each person known by us to beneficially own more than
5% of the common stock, (ii) each of our directors and director nominees, (iii) each of our executive
officers for whom compensation is reported in this proxy statement/prospectus, and (iv) all of our
directors and executive officers as a group. Except as otherwise noted, Internap believes that the
beneficial owners of its common stock listed below, based on information furnished by such owners,
have sole voting and investment power with respect to such shares.

Shares Beneficially

Owned
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Number Percent
Morgan Stanley Dean Witter Venture Partners (1) ...................... 8,055,693 5.4%

c/o Morgan Stanley Dean Witter Venture Partners
1221 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10020

William J. Harding (1) .. ... .. e 8,055,693 5.4%
Eugene Eidenberg (2). . . ... i 5,508,339 3.7%
Oak Investment Partners VIIL, L.P. (3). ... ... ... i 9,621,242 6.4%

c¢/o Oak Investment Partners VIII, L.P.
525 University Avenue, Suite 1300
Palo Alto, CA 94301

Fredric W. Harman (3) . . . ... .. 9,621,242 6.4%
Kevin L. Ober (4) ... ..o 416,667 *
Paul E. McBride (5) . ..o oo 5,297,471 3.5%
Anthony C. Naughtin (6) . .... ... ... 4,705,939 31%
Christopher D. Wheeler (7) ........ ... i i 4,492,108 3.0%
Robert D. Shurtleff, Jr. (8) ... ... 1,796,888 1.2%
Jerome Conlon (9) .. ..o 1,500 *
Michael W. Vent (10) . . ..ot e 12,500 *
All directors and executive officers as a group (13 persons)(11)............. 40,326,202  26.6%

*  Less than 1%

(1) Consists of 604,323 shares held by Morgan Stanley Venture Investors III, L.P, 275,368 shares held
by The Morgan Stanley Venture Partners Entrepreneur Fund, L.P, 6,294,148 shares held by
Morgan Stanley Venture Partners III, L.P, 541,344 shares held by MSVC II and 240,510 shares
held by Dr. Harding, who is a managing member of the general partner of Morgan Stanley Dean
Witter Venture Partners. Also includes 100,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of options held by
Dr. Harding that are exercisable within 60 days of February 28, 2001. Dr. Harding disclaims
beneficial ownership of the shares held by Morgan Stanley Dean Witter Venture Partners, except
to the extent of his proportionate interest therein.

(2) Consists of 2,508,853 shares held by H&Q Internap Investors, L.P, 2,215,466 shares held by TI
Ventures, LP, 180,705 shares held by Mr. Eidenberg, 139,433 shares held by Mr. Eidenberg as
trustee of the Eugene Eidenberg Trust September 1997, the Anna Chavez Educational Trust and
the Anna Chavez Separate Property Trust, and 30,549 shares held by Granite Ventures LLC. Also
includes 433,333 shares issuable upon the exercise of options held by Mr. Eidenberg that are
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exercisable within 60 days of February 28, 2001. Mr. Eidenberg disclaims beneficial ownership of
the shares held by H&Q Internap Investors, L.P., TI Ventures, LP, the Anna Chavez Educational
Trust, the Anna Chavez Separate Property Trust and Granite Ventures LLC.

Consists of 9,279,725 shares held by Oak Investment Partners VIII, L.P, 218,465 shares held by
Oak VIII Affiliates Fund L.P, 94,853 shares held by Mr. Harman, an aggregate of 8,199 shares
held in trust for the benefit of Mr. Harman’s three minor children and 20,000 shares issuable upon
the exercise of options held by Mr. Harman that are exercisable within 60 days of February 28,
2001. Mr. Harman disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by Oak Investment Partners
VIII, L.P, Oak VIII Affiliates Fund L.P. and the shares held in trust for his three minor children.

Includes 100,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of options that are exercisable within 60 days of
February 28, 2001.

Includes 1,075,646 shares held by Mr. McBride as trustee of the McBride Trust, the McBride
Grandchildren’s Trust No. 1, the McBride Grandchildren’s Trust No. 2, the McBride
Grandchildren’s Trust No. 3 and the McBride Legacy Trust for the benefit of Mr. McBride’s minor
children, and 191,668 shares issuable upon the exercise of options held by Mr. McBride that are
exercisable within 60 days of February 28, 2001. Mr. McBride disclaims beneficial ownership of the
shares held by him as trustee of the McBride Trust, the McBride Legacy Trust and the McBride
Grandchildren’s Trust Nos. 1, 2 and 3.

Includes 1,619,087 shares held by Crossroads Associates, LL.C, 400,000 shares held by Crossroads
Associates II, LLC, 18,000 shares held by Mr. Naughtin as trustee of the Eric Weaver Gift
Protection Trust, the Hugh Naughtin Gift Protection Trust, and the Rose Naughtin Gift Protection
Trust, and 287,500 shares issuable upon the exercise of options held by Mr. Naughtin that are
exercisable within 60 days of February 28, 2001. Mr. Naughtin disclaims beneficial ownership of the
18,000 shares held by him as trustee of the Eric Weaver Gift Protection Trust, the Hugh Naughtin
Gift Protection Trust and the Rose Naughtin Gift Protection Trust.

Includes 121,526 shares held by the CDW Limited Partnership, 288,000 shares held by

Mr. Wheeler as trustee of the Christopher D. Wheeler Foundation and the Christopher D.
Wheeler Charitable Remainder Unitrust 1, and 191,668 shares issuable upon the exercise of
options held by Mr. Wheeler that are exercisable within 60 days of February 28, 2001.

Mr. Wheeler disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by the Chistopher D. Wheeler
Foundation and the CDW Limited Partnership.

Includes 166,500 shares held by Robert D. Shurtleff, Jr. as trustee of the Shurtleff Family Trust,
650,700 shares issuable upon exercise of warrants held by Mr. Shurtleff exercisable within 60 days
of February 28, 2001 and 100,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of options held by

Mr. Shurtleff that are exercisable within 60 days of February 28, 2001. Mr. Shurtleff disclaims
beneficial ownership of the shares held by the Shurtleff Family Trust.

Consists of 1,500 shares issuable upon the exercise of options held by Mr. Conlon that are
exercisable within 60 days of February 28, 2001.

(10) Consists of 12,500 shares issuable upon the exercise of options held by Mr. Vent that are

exercisable within 60 days of February 28, 2001.

(11) Includes 2,353,384 shares issuable upon the exercise of options and warrants that are exercisable

within 60 days of February 28, 2001.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS

Robert J. Lunday, Jr., a former director, and some of the founders of Internap, including
Anthony C. Naughtin, our Chief Executive Officer and a director; Paul E. McBride, our Chief
Financial Officer; Christopher D. Wheeler, our Chief Technology Officer; and Internap entered into a
shareholders agreement, dated October 1, 1997. Under the shareholders agreement, Mr. Lunday
granted to each founder an option to purchase such founder’s pro rata share (as that term is defined in
the shareholders agreement) of 10,000,000 shares of Series A preferred stock, or common stock
issuable upon conversion, owned by Mr. Lunday at the date of the shareholders agreement at a price of
$.63 per share. To date, Mr. Lunday has sold an aggregate of 9,302,988 shares under the sharcholders
agreement. Mr. Lunday is the father-in-law of Mr. McBride.

In 1996, Big Sandy Telecommunications, Inc., a company owned by Messrs. Lunday, Naughtin and
McBride, executed a lease guarantee covering one of Internap’s office leases. Big Sandy was the
primary guarantor, and Messrs. Naughtin and McBride were secondary guarantors as Internap’s
corporate officers. The secondary guarantees terminated in 1999, and the primary guarantee terminated
in 2000.

On January 11, 1999, Lunday Communications, Inc., a company owned by Mr. Lunday, loaned
$500,000 to Internap, represented by a promissory note that bore interest at the rate of prime plus 2%
and had a maturity date of February 15, 1999. Internap repaid the outstanding principal and accrued
interest on the loan in February 1999 from the proceeds of its Series C preferred stock financing.

On January 13, 1999, Robert D. Shurtleff, Jr., a member of Internap’s board of directors, loaned
$600,000 to Internap, represented by a promissory note that bore interest at the rate of prime plus 2%
and had a maturity date of February 15, 1999. Internap repaid the outstanding principal and accrued
interest on the loan in February 1999 from the proceeds of its Series C preferred stock financing.

On January 28, 1999 and February 26, 1999, Internap sold an aggregate of 59,259,260 shares of
Series C preferred stock to 44 investors, including Mr. Shurtleff and Morgan Stanley Dean Witter
Venture Partners and Oak Investment Partners VIII, L.P, two of Internap’s principal shareholders, at
an aggregate purchase price of $32 million, or $.54 per share.

On September 7, 1999, Internap entered into a letter agreement with Richard K. Cotton, one of its
executive officers, under which Internap agreed to cause 100,000 shares of common stock underlying
his stock option to fully vest. In addition, he will receive severance pay equal to six months of his
compensation, including employee benefits, in the event of his termination for reasons other than his
voluntary resignation, death or for cause.

On September 23, 1999, Internap signed a standby loan facility agreement with several
shareholders, including Mr. Shurtleff, which matured upon the closing of Internap’s initial public
offering. This facility allowed Internap to draw up to $10 million prior to the earlier of maturity or
December 31, 1999, but it did not draw any amounts on this facility prior to maturity. In connection
with this facility, Internap issued warrants to purchase 200,000 shares of common stock with exercise
prices of $10.00 per share. The estimated fair value ascribed to the warrants was $536,000 based upon
the Black Scholes option pricing model, and Internap Network Services recorded this amount as
interest expense for the year ended December 31, 1999.

In October 1999, Internap paid a private placement fee of $1.0 million to Morgan Stanley & Co.
Incorporated, an affiliate of one of Internap’s principal shareholders, in connection with a private
placement of Internap’s common stock.
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Internap has entered into employment letter agreements with several of its key officers. Each letter
agreement sets forth the officer’s compensation level. Under each letter agreement the officer serves
at-will and employment may be terminated by Internap or by the officer at any time, with or without
cause and with or without notice. Each employment agreement contains a one year noncompetition
covenant.

Internap has entered into indemnification agreements with its directors and executive officers for
the indemnification of and advancement of expenses to such persons to the fullest extent permitted by
law. Internap also intends to enter into these agreements with its future directors and executive
officers.

Internap believes that the foregoing transactions were in its best interest and were made on terms
no less favorable than could have been obtained from unaffiliated third parties. All future transactions
between Internap and any of its officers, directors or principal shareholders will be approved by a
majority of the independent and disinterested members of the board of directors, will be on terms no
less favorable than could be obtained from unaffiliated third parties and will be in connection with
bona fide business purposes.

PART IV
ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K.

(a)(1) Financial Statements.

The following consolidated financial statements and the Report of the Independent
Accountants are incorporated by reference to pages F-1 through F-26 of this Form 10-K:

The consolidated balance sheets for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 2000, and the
consolidated statements of operations, statements of shareholders’ equity and comprehensive
loss and cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended December 31, 2000,
together with the notes thereto.

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedule.

The Report of Independent Accountants on Financial Statement Schedule is incorporated by
reference to page S-1 of this report on Form 10-K. The Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and
Reserves is incorporated by reference to page S-2 of this report on Form 10-K.
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(a)(3) Index to Exhibits.

Exhibit

Number

31+

3.2+
10.1*
10.2%e
10.3%e
10.4%
10.5%e
10.6+ ¢

10.7%
10.8+

10.9*

10.10+
10.11*

10.12+

10.13+-

10.14*

10.15*

10.16+
10.17+

10.18+

211+
231

Description

Atrticles of Incorporation.

Bylaws.

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and each of its Directors and
certain of its Officers.

Amended and Restated Internap Network Services Corporation 1999 Non-Employee
Directors’ Stock Option Plan.

Form of Amended and Restated Internap Network Services Corporation 1999 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan.

Amended and Restated Internap Network Services Corporation 1999 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan.

Amended and Restated Internap Network Services Corporation 1999 Stock Option/Stock
Issuance Plan.

Amended and Restated Internap Network Services Corporation 1999 Equity Incentive Plan
(Exhibit 10.7).

Form of 1999 Equity Incentive Plan Stock Option Agreement (Exhibit 10.8).

Lease Agreement, dated June 1, 1996, between Registrant and Sixth & Virginia Properties,
as amended by Lease Modification No. 1, dated May 1, 1998, as amended by Lease
Modification No. 2 dated September 1, 1998, as amended by Lease Modification No. 3,
dated December 20, 1999 (Exhibit 10.10).

Form of Employee Confidentiality, Nonraiding and Noncompetition Agreement used
between Registrant and its Executive Officers (Exhibit 10.11).

Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement, dated October 4, 1999 (Exhibit 10.17).
Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated June 30, 1999, between
Registrant and Silicon Valley Bank (Exhibit 10.19).

Master Agreement to Lease Equipment, dated January 20, 1998 between Registrant and
Cisco Systems Capital Corporation, as amended on November 17, 1999 (Exhibit 10.20).
Letter Agreement dated September 7, 1999 between Richard K. Cotton and Registrant
(Exhibit 10.25).

Master Loan and Security Agreement, dated August 23, 1999 between Registrant and
Finova Capital Corporation (Exhibit 10.26).

Common Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated September 17, 1999, between
Registrant and Inktomi Corporation (Exhibit 10.27).

Warrant, dated December 22, 1999, issued to S.L. Partners, Inc (Exhibit 10.28).

Form of Warrant issued to Paul Canniff, David Cornfield, Robert J. Lunday, Jr., Dan
Newell, Richard Saada, Robert D. Shurtleff, Jr. and Todd Warren (Exhibit 10.29).

Letter Agreement, dated March 10, 2000, among Morgan Stanley Venture Investors III,
L.P, The Morgan Stanley Venture Partners Entrepreneur Fund, L.P, Morgan Stanley
Venture Partners III, L.P. and Internap Network Services Corporation.

List of Subsidiaries.

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Accountants.

*

Incorporated by reference to designated exhibit included with the Company’s Registration

Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-84035.

+ Incorporated by reference to designated exhibit included with the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-95503.

* Management contract or compensatory plan.
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(b) Reports on Form 8-K.

On October 4, 2000, we filed an amended report on Form 8-K/A to our Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on July 31, 2000 announcing our acquisition of VPNX.com.

(c) Exhibits. See (a) (3) above.
(d) Financial Statement Schedule. See (a) (2) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

INTERNAP NETWORK SERVICES
CORPORATION

Date: May 9, 2001 By /s/ PAUL E. MCBRIDE

Paul E. McBride
Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President
of Finance and Administration

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears
below constitutes and appoints Anthony C. Naughtin and Paul E. McBride, and each of them, acting
individually, as his or her attorney-in-fact, each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for
him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K/A, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-
fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and
thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith and about the premises, as fully to all
intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them, or their or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or
cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has
been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on
the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date

Chief Executive Officer,

/s/ ANTHONY C. NAUGHTIN President and Director
- - . May 9, 2001
Anthony C. Naughtin (Principal Executive
Officer)
Chief Financial Officer and
Senior Vice President of
/s/ PAUL E. MCBRIDE i
: Finance and May 9, 2001
Paul E. McBride Administration (Principal
Finance and Accounting
Officer)
/s/ EUGENE EIDENBERG )
Chairman of the Board May 9, 2001

Eugene Eidenberg

46



Signature

/s/ WILLIAM J. HARDING

William J. Harding

/s/ FREDRIC W. HARMAN

Fredric W. Harman

/s/ KEVIN L. OBER

Kevin L. Ober

/s/ ROBERT D. SHURTLEFF, JR.

Robert D. Shurtleff, Jr.
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Report of Independent Accountants

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Internap Network Services Corporation

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated
statements of operations, of shareholders’ equity and comprehensive loss and of cash flows present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Internap Network Services Corporation at
December 31, 2000 and 1999 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Seattle, Washington
January 26, 2001



INTERNAP NETWORK SERVICES CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands)

December 31,

1999 2000
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents. . ... ... ... ...t $155,184 $102,160
Short-term INVEStMENTS . . . . . . . ottt e e e e 50,168 50,770
Investment income receivable . . ... ... ... . . ... ... 591 1,035
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $206 and $1,370, respectively. . . . . .. 4,084 20,291
Prepaid expenses and other assets .. .......... .. ... .. oL 553 5,256
Total current assets . . . . ...t 210,580 179,512
Property and equipment, net . ...... .. ... ... 28,811 152,153
Patents and trademarks, net . ... .. ... ... ... ... 142 334
Restricted cash . ... ... — 8,515
Investments . . . . ... 5,050 35,090
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of
$0 and $54,334, respectively . ... ... — 268,625
Deposits and other assets, net .. ........... ... i 963 5,881
TOtal ASSELS . . o v v vt $245,546  $650,110
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable . ... ... $ 7,278 $ 26,846
Accrued liabilities . . . . . . . o e 4,209 18,483
Deferred revenue . . . ... ... e 22 3,491
Notes payable, current portion . ........... ...ttt .. 1,021 2,320
Line of credit. . . ... . 1,525 10,000
Capital lease obligations, current portion . . .. ...................o... 6,613 18,132
Total current liabilities. . . . . . . . . . 20,668 79,272
Deferred revenue . . .. ... ... ... — 11,239
Notes payable, less current portion . .. ........ ... ... . ... ... ... 2,861 2,989
Capital lease obligations, less current portion . ......................... 11,517 24,657
Total liabilities . . . . . . .. 35,046 118,157
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, no par value, 500,000 shares authorized, 132,089 and 148,779
shares issued and outstanding, respectively . ........... ... ... ...... 287,186 786,183
Deferred stock compensation . .. ........... .ot (17,228)  (11,715)
Accumulated deficit .. ... ... (59,458) (244,915)
Accumulated other comprehensive income . .. ......... ... ... o ... — ,400
Total shareholders’ equity . ... ... ... ... 210,500 531,953
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity . ........................ $245,546  $650,110

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INTERNAP NETWORK SERVICES CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

1998 1999 2000

Revenues . . ... $ 1,957 $12,520 $ 69,613
Operating costs and expenses:

Cost of network and customer support . . .................... 3,216 27,412 99,376

Product development. .. ... ... ... .. 754 3,919 12,081

Sales and marketing . ......... .. ... . ... i 2,822 17,523 35,804

General and administrative . ................ ..., 1,910 8,328 36,322

Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets . . .. ........ — — 54,334

Amortization of deferred stock compensation . . ............... 205 7,569 10,651

Acquired in-process research and development . .. ............. — — 18,000

Total operating costs and €Xpenses . . ..............c....... 8,907 64,751 266,568

Loss from operations . ................iiiiiiiiin (6,950)  (52,231)  (196,955)
Other income (expense):

Interest iNCOME . . . . . . o v i it e e e e e e e e 169 3,388 14,349

Interest and financing eXpense . . . . ... ...........uui.. (90)  (1,074) (2,851)

Loss on disposal of assets . .............. ..y (102) — —

Net losS ..ot $(6,973) $(49,917) $(185,457)

Basic and diluted net loss per share. . ........................ $ (1.04) $ (1.31) $ (1.30)
Weighted average shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss

Pershare . ... ... ... 6,673 37,994 142,451

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INTERNAP NETWORK SERVICES CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

From January 1, 1998 to December 31, 2000
(In thousands)

Convertible
Preferred Accumulated
Stock Common Stock Additional Deferred Other
Par Par Paid-In  Common Stock Accumulated Comprehensive Comprehensive
Shares Value Shares Value Capital Stock  Compensation Deficit Income Total Loss

Balances, January 1, 1998 . . ... ... 34391 $ 34 6,666 $ 78 7356 $ — 3 — $ (2,568) $ — $ 4829 § —
Issuance of Series B preferred stock,

net of costs of proceeds . . . .. ... 4,667 4 — — 1,374 — — — — 1,378 —
Issuance of common stock to an

employee . ... ............ — — 7 — 1 — — — — 1 —
Value ascribed to lease financing

Warrants . . . ... ... ... — — — — 54 — — — — 54 —
Exercise of warrants to purchase Series

B preferred stock . . ......... 233 1 — — 69 — — — — 70 —
Deferred compensation related to

grants of stock options . . ... ... — — — — 699 — (699) — — — —
Amortization of deferred stock

compensation . . . .. ......... — — — — — — 205 — — 205 —
NetLoss . ... .oovvvv .. — — — — — — — (6,973) — (6,973) —
Balances, December 31, 1998 . . . . .. 39,291 39 6,673 7 9,553 — (494) (9,541) — (436) —
Issuances of Series C preferred stock,

net of costs of proceeds . . . ... .. 59,260 60 — — 31,850 — — — — 31,910 —
Issuance of common stock, net of costs

of proceeds . . . ............ — — 24,000 24 220,616 — — — — 220,640 —
Exercise of warrants to purchase Series

B preferred stock . .. ........ 402 — — — 120 — — — — 120 —
Exercise of employee stock options. . . — — 2,065 2 76 — — — — 78 —
Deferred compensation related to

grants of stock options . . . ... .. - - - = 24,303 — (24,303) — — — —
Amortization of deferred stock

compensation . . . .. ......... — — — — — — 7,569 — — 7,569 —
Value ascribed to standby credit facility

Warrants . . ... ... — — — — 536 — — — — 536 —
Conversion of preferred stock to

common stock . ... ... ... ... (98,953) (99) 98,953 99 — — — — — — —
Cashless exercise of warrants to

purchase common stock . . . . .. .. — — 398 — — — — — — — —
Elimination of par value of common

stock . ... — — — (132) (287,054) 287,186 — — — — —
Netloss . . ..., — — — — — — — (49,917) — (49,917) —
Balances, December 31, 1999 . . . . .. — — 132,089 — — 287,186 (17,228) (59,458) — 210,500 —
Issuance of common stock, net of costs

of proceeds . . .. ........... — — 3,450 — — 141,953 — — — 141,953 —
Amortization of deferred stock

compensation . . . . ... ....... — — — — — — 10,651 — — 10,651 —
Exercise of employee stock options. . . — — 3,686 — — 5,895 — — — 5,895 —
Issuance of Employee Stock Purchase

Plan shares . . ... .......... — — 350 — — 3,237 — — — 3,237 —
Exercise of warrants to purchase

common stock . ... ... ... ... — — 296 — — 443 — — — 443 —
Purchase of CO Space . . . ....... — — 6,881 — — 254951 — — — 254,951 —
Purchase of VPNX.com . ........ — — 2,027 — — 92232 (5,138) — — 87,094 —
Issuance of warrants to purchase

common stock . .. ... ... ... — — — — — 286 — — — 286 —
Comprehensive loss:

Netloss . .. ..o — — — — — — — (185,457) — (185,457)  (185,457)

Unrealized gain on investments — — — — — — — — 2,400 2,400 R
Comprehensive loss, December 31,

2000 ... — — — — — — — — — —  $(183,057)
Balances, December 31, 2000 . . . . . . — — 148,779 — 3 — $786,183  $(11,715)  $(244,915) $2,400 $ 531,953

The accompanying

notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INTERNAP NETWORK SERVICES CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

1998 1999 2000
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net 10SS . o o $(6,973) $(49,917) $(185,457)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization . . . . ...... .. ... . 725 4,808 74,856
Loss on disposal of assets . . . . . ... ... 102 — —
Non-cash interest and financing expense . . . . .. ......... .. ... .. . .. 7 553 —
Provision for doubtful accounts. . . . . .. ... ... 140 212 1,643
Non-cash expense related to warrants issued . . . ... ... ... ... ... ... ... — — 286
Non-cash compensation EXpense . . . . . .. ..o v v ittt 205 7,569 10,651
Acquired in-process research and development . . . .. ... . ... .. L L — — 18,000
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable . . ... . 678)  (3,531)  (17,294)
Prepaid expenses and other assets . . .. ... ... ... ... L L 391)  (1,762) (7,380)
Accounts payable . .. ... 721 6,016 (5,293)
Deferred revenue . . . .. ... e 200 (262) 3,963
Accrued liabilities . . . . . . e 619 2,496 10,921
Net cash used in operating activities . . . ... ........ . ... ... . . L. (5,323) (33,818)  (95,104)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment . . . ... ... ... L (794)  (12,905) (57,698
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired . . ... ... ... ... L — — (12,173
Collection of full recourse notes assumed for outstanding common stock . . ... .......... — — 642
Deposits on property and equipment . . . .. ... ... (58) — —
Purchase of INVEStMENtS . . . . . . . . o —  (65,214) (161,080)
Redemption of investments. . . .. ... ... ... — 9,995 132,838
Restriction of cash related to obtaining lease lines and letters of credit . . . .. ........... — — (8,515
Payments for patents and trademarks . . . ... ... .. ... L L 3) 104 (207
Net cash used in investing activities . . . ... . ... ... .. ... (855) (68,020) (106,193)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from shareholder loan . . . . . . . . . . .. ... ... — 1,100 —
Repayment of shareholder loan . . . . ... ... ... . ... .. — (1,100) —
Proceeds from equipment financing note payable . . . . . ...... ... ... . L L. — 4,237 —
Principal payments on equipment financing note payable . . ... .......... . ... ... ... (34) (355) (1,442)
Proceeds from line of credit . . . . . . . . . . . ... 650 900 8,475
Principal payments on line of credit . ... ... ... .. ... L L — (25) —
Principal payments on capital lease obligations . ... .............. ... . ... . ... .. (534)  (2,186)  (11,005)
Proceeds from equipment leaseback financing . . . . ... ... ... L oL 153 428 717
Proceeds from exercise of warrants to purchase preferred stock . . . .. ................ — — 443
Proceeds from exercise of stock options . . . ... ... ... L L L — 78 5,895
Proceeds from issuance of and exercise of warrants to purchase preferred stock,
net of ISSUANCE COSIS . . . v o v i e e e e e e e e e e e e e 1,448 32,030 —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs . . . .. ... ... .. ... ..... — 221,640 145,190
Net cash provided by financing activities . ... .............. ... . .......... 1,683 256,747 148,273
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . . ... ........... ... . ... ...... (4,495) 154,909 (53,024)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period . . . . ... ... ... ... .. ... . ... 4,770 275 155,184
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period . . . . . . . ... $ 275 $155,184 $ 102,160
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized . ............................ $ 8 $§ 413 § 2851
Purchase of property and equipment financed with capital leases . . . . ... ............. $ 3,606 $ 15857 $ 35,054
Purchase of property and equipment in accounts payable and accrued liabilities ... ....... $1537 $ 196 $ 13,556
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock . ... ...... .. ... ... . . o L. — 3 99 —
Accrued private placement fee . ... .. ... — $ 1,000 —
Value ascribed tO WAITants . . . ... ..o i ittt e $ 54 $ 536 —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



1. Description of the Company

Internap Network Services Corporation (the “Company”) is a leading provider of high
performance Internet connectivity services targeted at businesses seeking to maximize the performance
of mission-critical Internet-based applications. Customers connected to one of the Company’s service
points have their data optimally routed to and from destinations on the Internet using its overlay
network, which analyzes the traffic situation on the multiplicity of networks that comprise the Internet
and delivers mission-critical information and communications faster and more reliably. Use of the
Company’s overlay network results in lower instances of data loss and greater quality of service than
services offered by conventional Internet connectivity providers. As of December 31, 2000, the
Company provided its high performance Internet connectivity services to 647 customers located
throughout the United States.

The Company offers its high performance Internet connectivity services at dedicated line speeds of
1.5 Megabits per second, or Mbps, to 622 Mbps to customers desiring a superior level of Internet
performance through the deployment of service points, which are highly redundant network
infrastructure facilities coupled with patented routing technology. Service points maintain high speed,
dedicated connections to major global Internet networks, commonly referred to as backbones. As of
December 31, 2000, the Company operates 28 service points which are located in metropolitan areas
within the United States and one service point in Amsterdam.

The Company was originally incorporated in the State of Washington as a limited liability company
in May 1996. The Company was re-incorporated in the State of Washington in October 1997 as a C
corporation without changing its ownership. The Articles of Incorporation were amended in January
and October 1999 to change the amount of authorized common and preferred stock.

In December 1999, the Company incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary in the United Kingdom,
Internap Network Services U.K. Limited, and in June 2000, the Company incorporated a wholly owned
subsidiary in the Netherlands, Internap Network Services B.V. The consolidated financial statements of
the Company include all activity of these subsidiaries since their dates of incorporation forward.
Foreign exchange gains and losses have not been material to date.

In December 1999, a 100% stock dividend was declared on the Company’s common stock and paid
in January 2000.

The Company has a limited operating history and its operations are subject to certain risks and
uncertainties frequently encountered by rapidly evolving markets. These risks include the failure to
develop or supply technology or services, the ability to obtain adequate financing, the ability to manage
rapid growth or expansion, competition within the industry and technology trends.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Presentation
Accounting Principles

The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of the Company and all majority owned subsidiaries. Significant inter-
company transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Examples of estimates subject to possible revision



based upon the outcome of future events include, among others, recoverability of long-lived assets,
depreciation of property and equipment, income tax liabilities, the valuation allowance against the
deferred tax assets and the allowance for doubtful accounts. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company generally considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original or
remaining maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. The
Company invests its cash and cash equivalents with major financial institutions and may, at times,
exceed federally insured limits. Management believes that the risk of loss is minimal. To date, the
Company has not experienced any losses related to cash and cash equivalents.

At December 31, 2000, the Company had placed approximately $8,500,000 in a restricted cash
account to collateralize letters of credit with financial institutions. This amount is reported separately in
non-current assets. There were no restrictions on cash balances as of December 31, 1999.

Investments

The Company’s investments are comprised of U.S. Treasury, Government Agency, corporate debt
and equity securities. The Company classifies its marketable securities for which there is a determinable
fair value as available-for-sale in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.”
Available-for-sale securities are reported at fair value with the related unrealized gains and losses
included in other comprehensive income. The fair values of investments are determined based on
quoted market prices for those securities. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific
identification method. The Company accounts for investments without readily determinable fair values
and debt securities classified as held to maturity at cost. Realized gains and losses and declines in value
of securities judged to be other than temporary are included in other income (expense). Interest and
dividends earned on all securities are included in interest income.

Accounts Receivable and Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company extends trade credit terms to its customers based upon a credit analysis performed
by management. Further credit reviews are performed on a periodic basis as necessary. Generally,
collateral is not required on accounts receivable, however, advance deposits are collected for accounts
considered credit risks.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s short-term financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, capital lease obligations, and the line of credit are carried at cost. The
Company’s short-term financial instruments approximate fair value due to their relatively short
maturities. The carrying value of the Company’s long-term financial instruments approximate fair value
as the interest rates approximate current market rates of similar debt or investments.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are carried at original acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and
amortization. Depreciation and amortization are calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the assets. Estimated useful lives used for network equipment are three years, furniture,
equipment and software three to seven years, and leasehold improvements the shorter of their
estimated useful lives which range from seven to twenty years or the term of the related lease.
Additions and improvements that increase the value or extend the life of an asset are capitalized.



Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Gains or losses from asset disposals are charged to
operations.

Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use

In accordance with Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software
Developed or Obtained for Internal Use,” the Company capitalizes certain direct costs incurred
developing internal use software. During 1998, 1999 and 2000, the Company capitalized approximately
$76,000, $230,000 and $1,300,000, respectively, of internal software development costs.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill and other intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortization.
Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over the economic useful lives of the assets,
generally estimated to be three years.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets

The Company periodically evaluates the carrying value of its long-lived assets, including, but not
limited to, property and equipment, patents and trademarks and goodwill and other intangible assets.
The carrying value of a long-lived asset is considered impaired when the undiscounted cash flow from
such asset is separately identifiable and is estimated to be less than its carrying value. In that event, a
loss is recognized based on the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the
long-lived asset. Fair value is determined primarily using the anticipated cash flows discounted at a rate
commensurate with the risk involved. Losses on long-lived assets to be disposed of would be
determined in a similar manner, except that fair values would be reduced by the cost of disposal. While
current and historical operating and cash flow losses are possible indicators of impairment, the
Company believes the future cash flows to be received from long-lived assets will exceed the assets’
carrying values and, accordingly, the Company has not recognized any impairment losses through
December 31, 2000.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability method. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and
liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the
differences are expected to reverse. The Company provides a valuation allowance, if necessary, to
reduce deferred tax assets to their estimated realizable value.

Stock-Based Compensation

Employee stock options are accounted for under the intrinsic value method prescribed by
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 (“APB 25”) “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”
and related interpretations.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenues when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the service
has been provided, the fees for the service rendered are fixed or determinable and collectibility is
probable. Customers are billed for services on the first day of each month either on a usage or a
flat-rate basis. The usage based billing relates to the month prior to the month in which the billing
occurs, whereas certain flat rate billings relate to the month in which the billing occurs. Revenues
associated with billings for installation of customer network equipment are amortized over the life of
the customer relationship in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting



Bulletin No. 101 as the installation service is integral to the Company’s primary service offering.
Deferred revenues consist of revenues for services to be delivered in the future which are amortized
over the respective service period and billings for initial installation of customer network equipment.

Product Development Costs

Product development costs are primarily related to network engineering costs associated with
changes to the functionality of the Company’s proprietary services and network architecture. Such costs
that do not qualify for capitalization are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs are
expensed as incurred. Included in product development costs are research and development costs which
for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 totaled approximately $708,000, $3,079,000, and
$7,662,000, respectively.

Adbvertising Costs

The Company expenses advertising costs as they are incurred. Advertising costs for 1998, 1999 and
2000 were $63,000, $1,790,000 and $2,900,000, respectively.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic and diluted net loss per share has been computed using the weighted average number of
shares of common stock outstanding during the period, less the weighted average number of unvested
shares of common stock issued that are subject to repurchase. The Company has excluded all
outstanding convertible preferred stock, warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock, outstanding
options to purchase common stock and shares subject to repurchase from the calculation of diluted net
loss per share, as such securities are antidilutive for all periods presented.

The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands,
except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

1998 1999 2000
NEE I0SS .+ v vt et e e e e e e $(6,973) $(49,917) $(185,457)
Basic and diluted:
Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding used in
computing basic and diluted net loss per share .............. 6,673 37,994 142,451
Basic and diluted net loss per share . . . ..................... $ (1.04) $ (1.31) $ (1.30)
Antidilutive securities not included in diluted net loss per share
calculation:
Convertible preferred stock .. ....... ... ... ... ... .. ... 39,291 — —
Options to purchase common stock ...................... 6,823 15,441 24,159
Warrants to purchase common and Series B convertible preferred
SEOCK « o o 1,588 1,924 1,646
Unvested shares of common stock subject to repurchase . ... ... — 54 100

47,702 17,419 25,905

Segment Information

The Company uses the management approach for determining which, if any, of its products,
locations, customers or management structures constitute a reportable business segment. The
management approach designates the internal organization that is used by management for making
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operating decisions and assessing performance as the source of the Company’s reportable segments.
Management uses one measurement of profitability and does not disaggregate its business for internal
reporting and therefore operates in a single business segment. Through December 31, 2000, long lived
assets and revenues located outside the United States are not significant.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by SFAS No. 137, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities—Deferral of the Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 133,” and
SFAS No. 138, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities,” is effective for
the Company as of January 1, 2001. SFAS No. 133 establishes accounting and reporting standards for
derivative instruments and hedging activities which, among other things, requires that an entity
recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the statement of financial position and measure
those derivatives at fair value. The adoption of SFAS No. 133 has not materially impacted the
Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In December 1999 the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 101 (“SAB 101”), “Revenue Recognition.” SAB 101, as amended, provides guidance with respect
to the SEC’s interpretation of existing authoritative accounting guidance on the recognition of revenue
in financial statements. The Company’s adoption of SAB 101, effective January 1, 2000, has not
materially impacted its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 44 (“FIN
44>y “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation” in March 2000. FIN 44 provides guidance and
clarification to the application of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees.” The Company’s adoption of FIN 44, effective July 1, 2000, has not materially
impacted its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year balances to conform to the current year
presentation. These reclassifications had no impact on previously reported net loss, shareholders’ equity
or cash flows.

3. Business Combinations

On June 20, 2000, the Company completed its acquisition of CO Space, Inc. (“CO Space”). CO
Space provides collocation, or data center, space to customers who wish to collocate certain computer
server and telecommunications equipment with a third party provider. The Company has integrated the
CO Space service into its primary service offerings. The acquisition was recorded using the purchase
method of accounting under Accounting Principle Board Opinion No. 16 (“APB 167). The aggregate
purchase price of the acquired company, plus related charges, was approximately $270,934,000 and was
comprised of the Company’s common stock, cash, assumed liabilities and options to purchase common
stock. The Company issued approximately 6,881,000 shares of common stock and assumed options to
purchase CO Space common stock that were subsequently converted into options to purchase
approximately 322,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to effect the transaction. Results of
operations of CO Space have been included in the financial results of the Company since the closing
date of the transaction.
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Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information for CO Space is as follows (in thousands):

Cash acquired . . . ... ...t $ 3,488
Accounts receivable . . ... .. 546
Property and equipment, net .............. . ... 36,715
Full recourse notes receivable for outstanding common stock . ... ... ... 642
Other tangible assets . ... ... 1,887
Tangible assets acquired . ......... ... ... 43,278
Customer relationships . ........... .. 1,800
Completed real estate leases . ...........c... ... 19,300
Trade name and trademarks . . .. ....... ... ... ... .. 2,800
Workforce in place ... ... .. 2,000
Goodwill . . ... e 229,160
Intangible assets acquired . . . ....... ... L L 255,060
Total assets acquired . ... ........ ittt $298,338

Cash paid . . ... it e $ 7,200
Acquisition expenses incurred. . . ... ... 12,383
Accounts payable assumed . . ... ... 11,305
Accrued liabilities assumed .. ....... .. . ... . 1,517
Deferred revenue assumed . . . ... ... .. 8,992
Notes and capital leases assumed . .. ......... ... .. ... 1,990
Value of stock and options issued . . . ..... ... ... ... .. 254,951

Total cash paid, liabilities assumed, common stock issued and
options assumed. . . . ... $298,338

On July 31, 2000, the Company completed its acquisition of VPNX.com, Inc., formerly Switchsoft
Systems, Inc. (“VPNX”). The acquisition was recorded using the purchase method of accounting under
APB 16. The aggregate purchase price of the acquired company, plus related charges, was
approximately $87,426,000 and was comprised of the Company’s common stock, cash, acquisition costs
and assumed options to purchase common stock. The Company issued approximately 2,027,000 shares
of common stock and assumed options to purchase VPNX common stock that were subsequently
converted into options to purchase approximately 268,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to
effect the transaction. Results of operations of VPNX have been included in the financial results of the
Company since the closing date of the transaction.
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Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information for VPNX is as follows (in thousands):

Cash acquired . . . ... ...t $ 3,070
Property and equipment. . . ... .. .. 834
Other tangible assets . .. ... 798
Tangible assets acquired . . ...... ... ... 4,702
Developed technology . ......... ... . 2,600
Acquired in-process research and development . ................... 18,000
Covenants not to cOomMpete . .. ... ..ottt 14,100
Workforce in place ... ... .. 1,000
Goodwill . . ... e 50,199
Intangible assets acquired . . . ....... ... L L 85,899
Total assets acquired . ... ........ ittt $ 90,601
Acquisition expenses incurred. . .. ... o e $ 329
Accrued liabilities assumed ... ... .. . Lo 655
Deferred revenue assumed . . . ... ... . 1,751
Notes and capital leases assumed . .. ......... ... .. ... 772
Value of stock and options issued . . . ..... ... ... ... .. 92,232
Deferred stock compensation . . ........... ... (5,138)

Total liabilities assumed, common stock issued and options
assumed . ... $ 90,601

In accordance with APB 16, all identifiable assets were assigned a portion of the purchase price of
the acquired companies on the basis of their respective fair values. Identifiable intangible assets and
goodwill are included in “Goodwill and other intangible assets, net” on the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets and are amortized over their average estimated useful lives of three years. Intangible
assets were identified and valued by considering the Company’s intended use of acquired assets, and
analysis of data concerning products, technologies, markets, historical financial performance and
underlying assumptions of future performance. The economic and competitive environments in which
the Company and the acquired companies operate were also considered in the valuation analysis. The
amount allocated to acquired in-process research and development is related to technology acquired
from VPNX that was expensed immediately subsequent to the closing of the acquisition since the
technology had not completed the preliminary stages of development, had not commenced application
development and did not have alternative future uses. Furthermore, the technologies associated with
the acquired in-process research and development do not have a proven market and are sufficiently
complex so that the probability of completion of a marketable service or product cannot be determined.
The fair value of the acquired in-process research and development was determined using the income
approach, which estimates the expected cash flows from projects once commercially viable, which
discounts expected future cash flows to present value. The percentage of completion for each project
was determined based upon time and costs incurred on the project in addition to the relative
complexity. The percentage of completion varied by individual project and ranged from 25% to 70%.
The discount rate of 35% was used in the present value calculation was derived from an analysis of
weighted average costs of capital, weighted average returns on assets, and venture capital rates of
returns adjusted for the specific risks associated with the in-process research and development acquired.
This analysis resulted in an allocation of $18,000,000 to acquired in-process research and development
expense. The development of the acquired technologies remains a significant risk as the nature of the
efforts to develop the acquired technologies into commercially viable services consists primarily of
planning, designing, and testing activities necessary to determine that the products can meet customer
expectations.
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The pro forma consolidated financial information for the years ended December 31, 1999 and
2000, determined as if the acquisitions of CO Space and VPNX had occurred at the beginning of each
of the years ended December 31, 1999 and 2000, would have resulted in revenues of approximately
$16,645,000 and $71,987,000, net loss of approximately $172,722,000 and $241,214,000 and basic and
diluted loss per share of approximately $3.68 and $1.64, respectively. This unaudited pro forma
information is presented for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the results of
operations in future periods or results that would have been achieved had the Company, CO Space and
VPNX been combined during the specified periods.

4. Investments
Investments consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2000

Unrealized Unrealized Recorded

Cost Basis Gain Loss Value
U.S. Government and Government Agency Debt Securities — $17,990  $ 12 $ —  §$18,002
Corporate Debt Securities. . ... ... 36,748 29 (2) 36,775
Equity Securities . ............ ... 16,722 2,900 (539) 19,083
Cost Basis Investments . .. ........................ 12,000 — — 12,000

$83,460  $2,941  $(541)  $85,860

December 31, 1999

Unrealized Unrealized Recorded

Cost Basis Gain Loss Value
U.S. Government and Government Agency Debt Securities ~ $30,912 $66 $(23)  $30,955
Corporate Debt Securities. . ... ... 24,306 4 (47) 24,263

$55218  $70 $(70)  $55218

The following table summarizes the contractual maturities of available-for-sale debt securities as of
December 31, 2000:
Cost Basis  Recorded Value

Less than ONe YEar . . . ..o oottt e e e $50,748 $50,769
Due in 1 t0 2 years . . ..o v vttt e e e 3,990 4,008

$54,738 $54,777

Pursuant to an investment agreement among the Company, Ledcor Limited Partnership,
Worldwide Fiber Holdings Ltd. and 360networks, Inc. (“360networks”), on April 17, 2000, the
Company purchased 374,182 shares of 360networks Class A Non-Voting Stock at $5.00 per share and,
on April 26, 2000, the Company purchased 1,122,545 shares of 360networks Class A Subordinate
Voting Stock at $13.23 per share. The total cash investment was $16,722,180. Additionally, the
Company and 360networks entered into a letter of intent to negotiate a strategic agreement that would
provide the Company with long-haul fiber-optic bandwidth capacity and provide 360networks with the
Company’s Internet connectivity services. The Company’s investment in 360networks is recorded at fair
market value and reflected as an equity security in the table above.

On February 22, 2000, pursuant to an investment agreement, the Company purchased 588,236
shares of Aventail Corporation (“Aventail”) Series D preferred stock at $10.20 per share for a total
cash investment of $6,000,000. The Series D preferred stock is convertible to common stock at a ratio
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of one share of preferred stock to one share of common stock, subject to adjustment for certain equity
transactions. Additionally, the Company and Aventail entered into a joint marketing agreement which,
among other things, granted the Company certain limited exclusive rights to sell Aventail’s managed
extranet service and granted Aventail certain rights to sell the Company’s services. In return, the
Company committed to either sell Aventail services or pay Aventail, or a combination of both, which
would result in Aventail’s receipt of $3,000,000 over a two-year period. The Company’s investment in
Aventail is accounted for as a cost basis investment.

On August 10, 2000, the Company entered into a credit facility with Speedera Networks, which
allows Speedera to borrow up to $6.0 million. The credit facility bears interest at the prime rate plus
3% on the date of each draw with an original maturity in May 2001. In December 2000, the Company
modified the credit facility to eliminate the conversion feature and extend the maturity through
May 2002. Speedera has borrowed the full amount of the facility which is recorded as a held to
maturity investment and is reported at its cost basis.

5. Property and Equipment:

Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

1999 2000
Network eqUIPMENt . . ...ttt $ 4,665 $ 32,777
Network equipment under capital lease ... ........ ... ... .. . ... 20,095 52,637
Furniture, equipment and software . ............ ... it 6,717 24,066
Furniture, equipment and software under capital lease . ...................... 1,164 4,414
Leasehold improvements . . . . ... ...t e 2,009 65,622

34,650 179,516
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization ($4,851 and $12,069 related to
capital leases at December 31,1999 and 2000, respectively). ... ............... (5,839) (27,363)

Property and equipment, Nt . . . ... ... $28,811 $152,153

Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000
amounted to $721,000, $4,798,000 and $20,508,000, respectively. Assets under capital leases are pledged
as collateral for the underlying lease agreements.

6. Accrued Liabilities:
Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

1999 2000
Compensation payable .. .......... ...t $2,720  § 6,241
Property and equipment purchases ....................... — 6,403
Insurance payable . ......... ... . ... ... — 1,286
ACQUISILION COSES « . v v vt e e e e e e e — 1,182
Private placement fee . . .. ...... ... .. L . 1,000 —
Other .. ... 480 3,371

$4,209 $18,483
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7. Notes Payable:

During June 1999, the Company entered into a line of credit agreement with a financial institution
allowing aggregate borrowings of up to $3,000,000 for the purchase of equipment and working capital.
This line of credit was amended during December 2000 to increase the allowable aggregate borrowings
up to $10,000,000 as limited by certain borrowing base requirements which include maintaining certain
levels of revenues, customer turnover ratios and tangible net worth. The line requires monthly
payments of interest only at prime plus 1.0% (10.5% at December 31, 2000) and matures on June 30,
2001. Events of default for the New Line include failure to maintain certain financial covenants or a
material adverse change in the financial position of the Company. A material adverse change is defined
as a material impairment in the perfection or priority of the bank’s collateral or a material impairment
of the prospect of repayment of the line.

During August 1999, the Company entered into an equipment financing arrangement with a
finance company which allows borrowings of up to $5,000,000 for the purchase of property and
equipment. The equipment financing arrangement includes sublimits of $3,500,000 for equipment costs
and $1,500,000 for the acquisition of software and other service point and facility costs. Loans under
the $3,500,000 sublimit require monthly principal and interest payments over a term of 48 months. This
facility bears interest at 7.5% plus an index rate based on the yield of 4-year U.S. Treasury Notes.
Loans under the $1,500,000 sublimit require monthly principal and interest payments over a term of
36 months. This facility bears interest at 7.9% plus an index rate based on the yield of 3-year U.S.
Treasury Notes. Borrowings under each sublimit were completed prior to May 1, 2000 in accordance
with the facility terms and the aggregate balance outstanding under this facility totaled $3,882,000 and
$3,362,000 as of December 31, 1999 and 2000 respectively. The weighted average interest rate for all
borrowings under this facility was approximately 13.9% as of December 31, 2000.

As part of the acquisition of CO Space on June 20, 2000, the Company assumed an equipment
financing agreement (the “Equipment Financing Agreement”) with a financial institution, which
provides up to $2,000,000 for the purchase of equipment. The Equipment Financing Agreement was
signed on July 29, 1999, and has a 42 month term, with a commitment termination date of June 30,
2000. The interest rate is 3.25% over the yield of a 42-month U. S. Treasury Note on the day of
funding. There are two loan schedules under the Equipment Financing Agreement with interest rates
of 8.99% and 9.12%. The Equipment Financing Agreement calls for equal monthly principal and
interest payments over the term of the Equipment Financing Agreement with a final payment of 8.5%
of the original loan amount. As of December 31, 2000, the Company had outstanding borrowings of
approximately $1,378,000 under this Equipment Financing Agreement.

On July 31, 2000, the Company assumed a senior loan and security agreement (the “Security
Agreement”) in connection with the acquisition of VPNX. The Security Agreement provides up to
$2,000,000 for the purchase of equipment and requires 36 equal monthly payments of principal and
interest. The interest rates on the existing notes range from 6.59% to 8.03%, and each note has a final
payment of 15% of the original balance. This final payment may be extended for an additional
12 months at a monthly rate of 1.67%. The commitment termination date under the Security
Agreement was August 31, 2000. Outstanding borrowings at December 31, 2000 were $569,000.
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Maturities of notes payable at December 31, 2000 are as follows:

Years Ending December 31,

200 . o $2,320
2002 . . 1,936
2003 . L 1,036
2004 . . 17
2005 . —

Total maturities and principal payments . ..................... 5,309
Less: current portion. . . .. ...o ittt e (2,320)
Notes payable, less current portion . ..................c.. ..., $2,989

8. Capital Leases:

The Company has leases for a significant portion of its property and equipment which are
classified as capital leases. Interest on equipment and furniture leases range from 2.3% to 19.3%,
expire through 2004 and generally include an option allowing the Company to purchase the equipment
or furniture at the end of the lease term for fair market value.

In January 1998, the Company entered into a Master Agreement to Lease Equipment with one of
it’s equipment vendors which, as amended during December 2000, allows for the aggregate financing of
equipment up to $100,000,000. Up to 10% of the equipment financed under the agreement may be
acquired from a vendor other than the vendor providing the financing. Individual leases under the
Master Agreement to Lease Equipment may have a term of 36 to 39 months. As of December 31,
2000, approximately $50,000,000 is available for future financing.

Future minimum capital lease payments together with the present value of the minimum lease
payments are as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31,

2000 . $20,095
2002 . 17,813
2003 . 7,939
2004 . . 67
2005 . oo —

Total minimum lease payments. . .. .............c.v ... 45,914
Less: amount representing interest . . .. .......... ... (3,125)
Present value of minimum lease payments ........................ 42,789
Less: current portion . . .. ........ ... (18,132)
Capital lease obligations, less current portion .. .................... $24,657

9. Income Taxes:

As of December 31, 2000, the Company has net operating loss carryforwards of approximately
$239,000,000, which expire in 2012 through 2020. The Company has placed a valuation allowance
against its deferred tax assets in excess of deferred tax liabilities due to the uncertainty surrounding the
realization of such excess tax assets. Management periodically evaluates the recoverability of the
deferred tax asset and the level of the valuation allowance. At such time as it is determined that it is
more likely than not that the deferred tax assets are realizable, the valuation allowance will be reduced.
In connection with the acquisitions of CO Space and VPNX, the Company acquired net operating loss
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carryforwards of approximately $23,000,000 which begin to expire in 2011. Utilization of all net
operating losses will be subject to the limitations imposed by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code.

The Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
1999 2000

Deferred income tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards . . .. ......... ... ... .... $ 19,117 $ 90,733
Allowance for doubtful accounts . . ..................... 78 521
Accrued compensation . ... ... 402 1,179
Property and equipment . . . . ... .. .. .. . L L. — 2,095
Other . ... 4 991

19,601 95,519
Deferred income tax liabilities:

Amortization of discounts on investments . ............... — (2,134)
Purchased intangibles . . . . ......... ... .. ... ... . ... .. —  (14,163)
Property and equipment . . . . ... ... e (775) (368)

(775)  (16,665)

18,826 78,854
Valuation allowance . .. ........ ... ... . .. .. (18,826)  (78,854)

Net deferred tax assetS . . . . oo v v v v e e e $ —  $ —

The following is a reconciliation of the income tax benefit to the amount calculated based on the
statutory federal rate of 34% and the estimated state apportioned rate, net of the federal tax benefit, as
follows:

Year Ended December 31,
1998 1999 2000

Federal income tax benefit at statutory rates ............ (34%) (34%) (34%)
State income tax benefit at statutory rates .............. (B%) (4%) (4%)
Amortization of goodwill . . .. ...... ... ... . L. — —  10%
In-process research and development expense. ........... — — 4%
Stock compensation €Xpense . . ... .........ieneo. .. — — 2%
Other. . ... — — (3%)
Change in valuation allowance . . ..................... 37%  38%  25%

Effective tax rate ... .... ... ... — — —

10. Employee Retirement Plan:

The Company sponsors a defined contribution retirement savings plan (the “Plan”) that qualifies
under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Plan covers all employees who have attained
21 years of age. Participants may elect to have up to 15% of their pre-tax compensation contributed to
the Plan, subject to certain guidelines issued by the Internal Revenue Service. Beginning January 1,
2000, the Company matches the employees contributions to the Plan up to 3% of the employees’s
annual compensation. During 2000, the Company contributed $669,000 to the Plan. No contributions
were made during 1998 or 1999.
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11. Commitments and Contingencies:
Operating Leases

The Company has entered into leasing arrangements relating to office and service point rental
space which are classified as operating. Future minimum lease payments on non-cancelable operating
leases are as follows at December 31, 2000 (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31,

2000 . $ 20,196
2002 . 19,874
2003 L 18,202
2004 . 15,444
2005 . e 13,058
Thereafter. . . ... ... e 140,822

$227,596

Rent expense was approximately $571,000, $3,381,000 and $16,100,000 for the years ended
December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively.

Service Commitments

The Company has entered into service commitment contracts with backbone service providers to
provide interconnection services. Minimum payments under these service commitments are as follows at
December 31, 2000 (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31,

2000 . . $26,167
2002 . 35,083
2003 . 22,250
$83,500
Litigation

The Company may be subject to legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising in the ordinary
course of business. Although the outcome of these matters is currently not determinable, the Company
does not expect that the ultimate costs to resolve these matters will have a material adverse effect on
its financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

12. Shareholders’ Equity:

In January and October 1999, the articles of incorporation were amended to change the authorized
amount of common and preferred stock. In December 1999, a 100% share dividend was declared on
the Company’s common stock to be distributed in January 2000. Accordingly, the disclosures in the
financial statements and related notes have been adjusted to reflect the October 1999 amendment to
the Articles of Incorporation and the stock dividend for all periods presented.
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Convertible Preferred Stock

At December 31, 1998, preferred stock consisted of the following (in thousands):

Additional
Paid-In  Common Stock

Shares Issued and Capital Reserved for Liquidation
Series Designated Outstanding Par Value (Net) Conversion Preference
A 13,333 13,333 $13 $ 987 13,333 $ 680
B 27,546 25,958 26 7,693 25,958 7,786
C o 59,260 — — — — —

100,139 39,291 $39 $8,680 39,291 $8,466

In February 1999, the Company sold 59,259,260 shares of Series C preferred stock at a price of
$.54 per share, resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $32,000,000, prior to deducting issuance
costs. In addition, during 1999 several warrant holders exercised warrants to purchase 402,008 shares of
Series B preferred stock, resulting in net proceeds to the Company of $120,303. Upon the closing of
the Company’s initial public offering on October 4, 1999, all shares of preferred stock outstanding
converted into 98,953,050 shares of common stock.

Common Stock

As a result of the January 1999 amendment, the number of shares of common stock authorized
was increased to 100,000,000 from 70,000,000. In July 1999, the Board of Directors increased the
authorized shares of common stock to 300,000,000 and, in October 1999 upon the closing of the
Company’s initial public offering, the authorized shares of common stock were increased to 500,000,000
shares and par value was eliminated.

On September 29, 1999, the Company sold 19,000,000 shares of its common stock in an initial
public offering at a price of $10.00 per share for net proceeds of $176,700,000. On October 1, 1999, the
underwriters exercised their over-allotment option, resulting in the sale of an additional 2,850,000
shares of common stock at $10.00 per share for additional net proceeds of $26,505,000.

On April 6, 2000, 8,625,000 shares of the Company’s common stock were sold in a public offering
at a price of $43.50 per share. Of these shares, 3,450,000 were sold by the Company and 5,175,000
shares were sold by selling shareholders. The Company did not receive any of the proceeds from the
sale of shares of common stock by the selling shareholders. The proceeds to the Company from the
offering were $142,900,000, net of underwriting discounts and commissions of $7,100,000.

Warrants to Purchase Series B Preferred Stock and Common Stock

During 1997 and 1998, the Company issued warrants to purchase up to 1,821,520 shares of
Series B preferred stock at $.30 per share in conjunction with its various financings during these
periods. The warrants to purchase Series B preferred stock converted to warrants to purchase common
stock upon the closing of the Company’s initial public offering.

Concurrent with the closing of its initial public offering, the Company sold 2,150,537 shares of
common stock to Inktomi Corporation for $9.30 per share, resulting in proceeds of $19,000,000, net of
a private placement fee of $1,000,000. In conjunction with this investment, the Company issued a
warrant to purchase 1,075,268 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $13.95 per share. The
warrant has a two-year term and includes demand and piggyback registration rights. The agreement
also prohibits Inktomi from acquiring additional shares of the Company’s common stock for a period of
two years. On November 24, 1999, Inktomi exercised 50% of these warrants through a cashless
exercise, resulting in the issuance of 397,250 shares of common stock to Inktomi.
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On August 2, 2000, the Company issued a warrant to purchase 20,000 shares of common stock at
an exercise price of $26.88 to an executive recruiting firm. The fair value of these warrants was
estimated to be approximately $286,000 based upon the Black-Scholes option pricing model and was
charged to expense.

Outstanding warrants to purchase shares of common stock at December 31, 2000, are as follows
(shares in thousands):

Weighted

Average
Year of Exercise
Expiration Price Shares
2000 . e e $14.41 558
2002 . .30 932
2004 . 10.00 156

13. Stock-Based Compensation Plans:

In March 1998, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the 1998 Stock Options/Stock Issuance
Plan (the “1998 Plan”), which provides for the issuance of incentive stock options (“ISOs”) and
non-qualified options to eligible individuals responsible for the management, growth and financial
success of the Company. Shares of common stock reserved for the 1998 Plan in March 1998 totaled
8,070,000 and were increased to 10,070,000 in January 1999. As of December 31, 2000 there were
5,430,000 options outstanding and 134,000 options available for grant pursuant to the 1998 Plan.

During June 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan (the
“1999 Plan”) which provides for the issuance of incentive stock options (“ISOs”) and nonqualified
stock options to eligible individuals responsible for the management, growth and financial success of
the Company. As of December 31, 1999, 13,000,000 shares of common stock were reserved for the 1999
Plan. Upon the first nine anniversaries of the adoption date of the 1999 Plan, the number of shares
reserved for issuance under the 1999 Plan will automatically be increased by 3.5% of the total shares of
common stock then outstanding or, if less, by 6,500,000 shares. Accordingly on June 19, 2000, the
number of shares reserved for the grant of stock options under the 1999 Plan was increased by
4,831,738 shares. The terms of the 1999 Plan are the same as the 1998 Plan with respect to ISO
treatment and vesting. As of December 31, 2000, there were 12,960,000 options outstanding and
4,061,000 options available for grant pursuant to the 1999 Plan.

In May 2000, the Company adopted the 2000 Non-Officer Equity Incentive Plan (the “2000 Plan”).
The 2000 Plan initially authorized the issuance of 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock.
On July 18, 2000, the board of directors increased the shares reserved under the 2000 Plan to
4,500,000. Under the 2000 Plan, the Company may grant stock options only to employees of the
Company who are not officers or directors. Options granted under the 2000 Plan are not intended by
the Company to qualify as incentive stock options under the Internal Revenue Code. Otherwise,
options granted under the 2000 Plan generally will be subject to the same terms and conditions as
options granted under the Company’s 1999 Plan. As of December 31, 2000, there were 4,416,000
options outstanding and 84,000 options available for grant pursuant to the 2000 Plan.

During July 1999, the Company adopted the 1999 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan
(the “Director Plan”). The Director Plan provides for the grant of non-qualified stock options to
non-employee directors. A total of 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock have been
reserved for issuance under the Director Plan. Under the terms of the Director Plan, 480,000 fully
vested options were granted to existing directors on the effective date of the Company’s initial public
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offering with an exercise price of $10.00 per share. Subsequent to the Company’s initial public offering,
initial grants, which are fully vested as of the date of the grant, of 80,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock are to be made under the Director Plan to all non-employee directors on the date such
person is first elected or appointed as a non-employee director. On the day after each of the
Company’s annual shareholder meetings, starting with the annual meeting in 2000, each non-employee
director will automatically be granted a fully vested and exercisable option for 20,000 shares, provided
such person has been a non-employee director of the Company for at least the prior six months. The
options are exercisable as long as the non-employee director continues to serve as a director, employee
or consultant of the Company or any of its affiliates. As of December 31, 2000, there were 420,000
options outstanding and 420,000 options available for grant pursuant to the Director Plan.

In connection with the acquisition of CO Space, the Company assumed the CO Space, Inc. 1999
Stock Incentive Plan (the “CO Space Plan”). After applying the acquisition conversion ratio, the CO
Space plan authorizes the issuance of up to 1,346,840 options to purchase shares of common stock. As
of December 31, 2000 there were 737,000 outstanding and 399,000 options available for grant pursuant
to the CO Space Plan.

In connection with the acquisition of VPNX, the Company assumed the Switchsoft Systems, Inc.
Founders 1996 Stock Option Plan and the Switchsoft Systems, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan (the
“VPNX Plans”). After applying the acquisition conversion ratio, the VPNX Plans authorize the
issuance of up to 307,417 options to purchase shares of common stock. As of December 31, 2000, there
were 196,000 options outstanding and 49,000 options available for grant pursuant to the VPNX Plans.

ISOs may be issued only to employees of the Company and have a maximum term of 10 years
from the date of grant. The exercise price for ISOs may not be less than 100% of the estimated fair
market value of the common stock at the time of the grant. In the case of options granted to holders
of more than 10% of the voting power of the Company, the exercise price may not be less than 110%
of the estimated fair market value of the common stock at the time of grant, and the term of the
option may not exceed five years. Options become exercisable in whole or in part from time to time as
determined by the Board of Directors at the date of grant, which will administer the Plan. Both ISOs
and non-qualified options generally vest over four years.

The Company has elected to account for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value
method prescribed in APB 25. Accordingly, compensation cost for stock options is measured as the
excess, if any, of the fair value of the Company’s stock at the date of grant over the exercise price to be
paid to acquire the stock.
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Option activity for 1998, 1999 and 2000 under all of the Company’s stock option plans is as follows
(shares in thousands):

Weighted
Average
Shares Exercise Price

Granted . . . .. .. 6,823 $ .05
Exercised . . ... ... . e — —
Canceled . ... ... . e — —
Balance, December 31, 1998 . . ... ... ... ... ... ... .... 6,823 $ .05
Granted . . . .. .. 11,135 $ 5.82
Exercised . . ..ot (2,065) $§ .04
Cancelled . ... ... (412)  $ 3.92
Balance, December 31,1999 . . . ... ... ... ... ... .... 15,481 $ 4.10
Granted . . . .. .. 12,894 $39.44
Assumed from acquisitions . ... ...... ... o ... 590 $ 553
Exercised . .. ..o (3,686)  $ 1.60
Cancelled .. ...... ... .. (1,120)  $36.88
Balance, December 31,2000 ... ............ ... ....... 24,159 $21.71

Options granted during 1998 include 800,000 non-qualified options granted to members of the
Board of Directors (“Directors’ Options”) which are immediately exercisable, and if exercised, are
subject to the terms of restricted stock purchase agreements. The Directors’ Options, or if exercised,
the related restricted stock, vest over a period of four years from the vesting commencement date, as
determined by the Board of Directors.

The following table summarizes information about options outstanding at December 31, 2000
(shares in thousands):

(Options Exercisable Excluding
Options Which Shares Would Be
Subject to the Company’s Right of

Options Outstanding Repurchase)

Weighted

Average
Remaining Weighted
Number of Contractual Life Number of Average

Exercise Prices Shares (in years) Shares Exercise Prices

$ .03-% .40 4,800 7.87 1,043 $ .15
$1.63-% 271 3,493 8.36 1,211 $ 2.12
$ 3.00-% 6.69 3,569 8.91 731 $ 4.45
$ 731 -8 17.88 1,100 9.27 320 $10.00
$19.00 — $ 31.63 3,076 9.57 34 $28.75
$32.00 - $ 38.19 3,358 9.30 146 $34.02
$38.50 - $ 48.19 2,313 9.40 61 $43.98
$49.00 — $ 70.06 1,208 9.14 83 $70.06
$72.13 - § 83.75 860 9.09 16 $72.13
$87.19 — $105.91 382 9.18 — —
$ .03 -$105.91 24,159 8.85 3,645 $ 6.79

During 1998 and 1999, options to purchase 6,823,498 and 9,854,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock, with a weighted-average exercise price of $.05 and $3.09 per share and a weighted-
average option fair value of $.12 and $3.69 per share, were granted, respectively, with an exercise price
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below the estimated market value at the date of grant. With the exception of options assumed in
conjunction with the CoSpace and VPNX acquisitions, the exercise price of options granted during
2000 equaled the fair value of the underlying shares at the date of grant. The weighted average grant
date fair value of options granted during 2000 was approximately $363,900,000 or $28.22 per share.

During July 1999, the Company adopted the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”).
The ESPP provides a means by which employees may purchase common stock of the Company through
payroll deductions. The purchase plan is implemented by offering rights to eligible employees. Under
the purchase plan, the Company may specify offerings with a duration of not more than 27 months,
and may specify shorter purchase periods within each offering. The first offering began on
September 29, 1999 and will terminate on September 30, 2002. Purchase dates occur each March 31
and September 30. Employees who participate in an offering under the purchase plan may have up to
15% of their earnings withheld. The amount withheld is then used to purchase shares of the common
stock on specified dates determined by the board of directors. The price of common stock purchased
under the purchase plan is equal to 85% of the lower of the fair market value of the common stock at
the commencement date of each offering period or the relevant purchase date. Employees may end
their participation in an offering at any time during the offering except during the 15 day period
immediately prior to a purchase date. Employees’ participation in all offerings ends automatically on
termination of their employment with the Company or one of its subsidiaries. A total of 3,000,000
shares of common stock have been reserved for issuance pursuant to the ESPP. Upon the first nine
anniversaries of the adoption date of the ESPP, the number of shares reserved for issuance under the
ESPP will automatically be increased by 2% of the total number of shares of common stock then
outstanding or, if less, by 3,000,000 shares. Accordingly, on July 24, 2000, pursuant to the terms of the
ESPP, the number of shares reserved for the grant of stock options under the ESPP was increased by
1,500,000 shares. The purchase plan is intended to qualify as an employee stock purchase plan within
the meaning of Section 423 of the Code.

The Company has adopted the disclosure only provisions of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123 (“SFAS No. 123”), “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” Pro forma information
regarding the net loss is required by SFAS No. 123, and has been determined as if the Company had
accounted for its employee stock options (including ESPP participation) under the fair value method.
The fair value of options granted in 1998 and in 1999 prior to the Company’s initial public offering was
estimated at the date of grant using the minimum value method allowed for non-public companies
assuming no expected dividends and the following weighted-average assumptions: risk-free interest rate
of 6% and 6.75%; volatility of 0% and 0%; and an expected life of 6 and 5 years, respectively. The fair
value of options granted in 1999 and 2000 (including ESPP participation) subsequent to the Company’s
initial public offering was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model
assuming no expected dividends and the following weighted average assumptions:

1999 2000
Risk free interest rate . .............oiuiinii. .. 6.75%  6.00%
Volatility . . ..o 80%  100%
Expected life (excluding ESPP). .. ... ... ... ... ... ... 5 years 4 years
ESPP expected life . ...... ... ... .. .. ... . i, 1year 1 year

For purposes of the pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of options is amortized to
expense over the options’ vesting periods. If the Company had accounted for compensation expense
related to stock options (including ESPP participation) under the fair value method prescribed by SFAS
No. 123, the net loss and the basic and diluted net loss per share for the years ended December 31,
1998, 1999 and 2000 would have been approximately $6,985,000, $60,372,000 and $317,586,000 and
$1.05, $1.59 and $2.23, respectively.
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Deferred Stock Compensation

During 1998, the Company issued stock options to certain employees under the 1998 and 1999
Plans with exercise prices below the deemed fair value of the Company’s common stock at the date of
grant. In accordance with the requirements of APB 25, the Company has recorded deferred stock
compensation for the difference between the exercise price of the stock options and the deemed fair
value of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant. Additionally, in connection with the
acquisition of VPNX, the Company recorded deferred stock compensation related to the unvested
options assumed, totaling $5,135,000.

Deferred stock compensation is amortized to expense over the period during which the options or
common stock subject to repurchase vest, generally four years, using an accelerated method as
described in Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 28. As of December 31, 2000,
the Company has recorded deferred stock compensation related to options in the total amount of
$30,140,000, of which $205,000, $7,569,000 and $10,651,000 has been amortized to expense during 1998,
1999 and 2000 respectively. The weighted average exercise price of the 6,823,498 options granted in
1998 to purchase common stock was $.05 and the weighted average fair value per share was $.15 during
1998. The weighted average exercise price of the 11,134,500 options granted in 1999 to purchase
common stock was $5.82 and the weighted average fair value per share was $7.98.

14. Unaudited Quarterly Results:

The following table sets forth certain unaudited quarterly results of operations for the Company
for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 2000. In the opinion of management, this information has
been prepared on the same basis as the audited financial statements and all necessary adjustments,
consisting of only normal recurring adjustments, have been included in the amounts stated below to
present fairly, in all material respects, the quarterly information when read in conjunction with the
audited financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K.
The quarterly operating results below are not necessarily indicative of those of future periods.

Three Months Ended

Mar. 31, Jun. 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31, Mar. 31, Jun. 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,
1999 1999 1999 1999 2000 2000 2000 2000

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues . ........................ $1,244 $ 2,166 $ 3,613 $ 5497 § 8891 §$ 13,647 §$ 20,220 $ 26,855
Operating costs and expenses:
Costs of network and customer support . . . . . 2,346 5,560 8,428 11,078 15326 20,475 26,935 36,640
Product development . ............... 565 830 1,053 1,471 1,578 1,863 4,107 4,533
Sales and marketing . . .. ............. 2,236 3,633 4,691 6,963 7,689 8,000 8,889 11,226
General and administrative . . . ... ... .... 1,172 1,733 2,216 3,207 4,388 5,306 11,168 15,460
Amortization of goodwill and other intangible
ASSELS & v v e — 2,157 26,183 25,994
Amortization of deferred stock compensation . 349 1,438 2,505 3,277 3,074 2,550 2,625 2,402
Acquired in-process research and development — — 18,000 —
Total operating costs and and expenses . . . . 6,668 13,194 18,893 25,996 32,055 40,351 97,907 96,255
Loss from operations . . ... ............. (5,424) (11,028) (15,280) (20,499) (23,164) (26,704) (77,687) (69,400)
Other income (expenses):
Interest income . . . ................. 206 244 93 2,845 2,926 4,412 3,900 3,111
Interest and financing expense . . ........ (57) (90) (640) (287) (385) (505)  (1,025) (936)
Netloss . ... ... $(5,275) $(10,874) $(15,827) $(17,941) $(20,623) $(22,797) $(74,812) $(67,225)
Basic and diluted net loss per share. . . . ... .. $(.79)  $(1.59)  $(1.92)  $(14)  $(16)  $(.16)  $(51)  $(45)

Weighted average shares used in computing basic
and diluted net loss per share . . .. ....... 6,674 6,839 8,246 129,314 132,526 138,193 146,794 148,381
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15. Events Subsequent to December 31, 2000 (unaudited):
Holding Company

During February 2001, a holding company named Internap Corporation (the “Corporation”) was
formed, capitalized by 100 shares of common stock. The board of directors of the Company has
approved a plan, subject to shareholder approval, under which the Company would be merged into the
Corporation and shareholders of the Company would receive equivalent shares of the Corporation in
exchange for their shares of the Company. Subsequent to the merger, the Corporation will be an entity
with identical ownership as the Company just prior to the merger and therefore the recorded assets
and liabilities of the Company will be carried forward to the consolidated financial statements of the
Corporation at their recorded historical amounts.

Impairment and Restructuring Costs

On June 20, 2000, the Company completed the acquisition of CO Space which was accounted for
under the purchase method of accounting. The purchase price was allocated to net tangible assets and
identifiable intangible assets and goodwill. During the first quarter of 2001, the Company’s stock price
declined to a historical low and the Company began experiencing larger than expected customer
attrition. As a result of these events, the Company revised its financial projections including reductions
in budgeted costs relating to the completion of a series of executed but undeveloped leases acquired
from CO Space. Subsequently, on February 28, 2001, management and the board of directors of the
Company approved a restructuring plan that included the elimination of the completion of the executed
but undeveloped leases and the termination of core collocation development personnel.

Consequently, pursuant to the guidance provided by Financial Accounting Standards Board
No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be
Disposed Of” (“SFAS 1217), management completed a cash flow analysis of the collocation assets,
including the assets acquired from CO Space. The cash flow analysis showed that the estimated cash
flows were less than the carrying value of the collocation assets. Accordingly, pursuant to SFAS 121,
management estimated the fair value of the collocation assets to be $79.5 million based upon a
discounted future cash flow analysis. As estimated fair value of the collocation assets was less than their
recorded amounts, the Company recorded an impairment charge of approximately $196.0 million.

Additionally, in the first quarter of 2001, the Company recorded related restructuring costs totaling
$4.3 million primarily relating to estimated costs for severance, anticipated losses related to subleasing
the Undeveloped Leases, and other associated costs. During the second quarter of 2001, the Company
executed an additional reduction in force and recorded additional severance costs of $700,000.

Joint Venture

On April 10, 2001 the Company announced the formation of a joint venture with NTT-ME
Corporation of Japan. The formation of the joint venture involved the Company’s investment of
$2.8 million to acquire 51% of the common stock of the newly formed entity. The joint venture,
Internap Japan, will offer Internap’s managed, high performance connectivity service to the Japanese
market while leveraging NTT-ME’s existing marketing, sales, systems integration and operations
capabilities in the target market. Internap Japan anticipates commencing operations during the second
half of 2001.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Description
3.1+ Articles of Incorporation.
3.2+ Bylaws.
10.1* Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and each of its Directors and
certain of its Officers.
10.2%e Amended and Restated Internap Network Services Corporation 1999 Non-Employee
Directors’ Stock Option Plan.
10.3%e Form of Amended and Restated Internap Network Services Corporation 1999 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan.
10.4% e Amended and Restated Internap Network Services Corporation 1999 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan.
10.5%e Amended and Restated Internap Network Services Corporation 1999 Stock Option/Stock
Issuance Plan.
10.6+ Amended and Restated Internap Network Services Corporation 1999 Equity Incentive Plan
(Exhibit 10.7).
10.7% Form of 1999 Equity Incentive Plan Stock Option Agreement (Exhibit 10.8).
10.8+ Lease Agreement, dated June 1, 1996, between Registrant and Sixth & Virginia Properties,
as amended by Lease Modification No. 1, dated May 1, 1998, as amended by Lease
Modification No. 2 dated September 1, 1998, as amended by Lease Modification No. 3,
dated December 20, 1999 (Exhibit 10.10).
10.9* Form of Employee Confidentiality, Nonraiding and Noncompetition Agreement used
between Registrant and its Executive Officers (Exhibit 10.11).
10.10+ Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement, dated October 4, 1999 (Exhibit 10.17).
10.11°* Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated June 30, 1999, between
Registrant and Silicon Valley Bank (Exhibit 10.19).
10.12+ Master Agreement to Lease Equipment, dated January 20, 1998 between Registrant and
Cisco Systems Capital Corporation, as amended on November 17, 1999 (Exhibit 10.20).
10.13++  Letter Agreement dated September 7, 1999 between Richard K. Cotton and Registrant
(Exhibit 10.25).
10.14* Master Loan and Security Agreement, dated August 23, 1999 between Registrant and
Finova Capital Corporation (Exhibit 10.26).
10.15%* Common Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated September 17, 1999, between
Registrant and Inktomi Corporation (Exhibit 10.27).
10.16+ Warrant, dated December 22, 1999, issued to S.L. Partners, Inc (Exhibit 10.28).
10.17+ Form of Warrant issued to Paul Canniff, David Cornfield, Robert J. Lunday, Jr., Dan
Newell, Richard Saada, Robert D. Shurtleff, Jr. and Todd Warren (Exhibit 10.29).
10.18+ Letter Agreement, dated March 10, 2000, among Morgan Stanley Venture Investors III,
L.P, The Morgan Stanley Venture Partners Entrepreneur Fund, L.P., Morgan Stanley
Venture Partners III, L.P. and Internap Network Services Corporation.
21.1+ List of Subsidiaries.
23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Accountants.

Incorporated by reference to designated exhibit included with the Company’s Registration

Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-84035.

+ Incorporated by reference to designated exhibit included with the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-95503.

* Management contract or compensatory plan.



CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8
(No. 333-89369, 333-37400, 333-40430, 333-42974, and 333-43996) of our reports dated January 26, 2001
relating to the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule, which appears in
InterNAP Network Services Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended
December 31, 2000.

D\- < uux&u\m&-.c)o\nn \@

Seattle, Washington
May 9, 2001



Report of Independent
Accountants on Financial Statement Schedule

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Internap Network Services Corporation

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements of Internap Network Services Corporation
included in this Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000 also included an audit of the
financial statement schedule appearing on page S-2 of this Form 10-K. In our opinion, this financial
statement schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read
in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Seattle, Washington
January 26, 2001
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VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES (IN THOUSANDS)

Balance at Balance
Beginning  Charges to  Charges to at end
of Fiscal Costs and Other of Fiscal
Period Expenses Accounts Deductions Period
Year ended December 31, 1998
Allowance for doubtful accounts . ......... $ 27 $ 140 $  — $102 $ 65
Tax valuation allowance ................ 114 — 2,532 — 2,646
Year ended December 31, 1999
Allowance for doubtful accounts . . ........ 65 212 — 71 206
Tax valuation allowance ................ 2,646 — 16,180 — 18,826
Year ended December 31, 2000
Allowance for doubtful accounts . ......... 206 1,643 — 479 1,370
Tax valuation allowance ................ 18,826 — 60,028 — 78,854
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